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Amended Items in Nomination:

Section 7:

The property identified on page 7-19 (Block 811 description) as the Raleigh Industrial Center,
and on page 7-31 as noncontributing resource #6, the Lucas Binders Building at 1147 Wicomico,
and considered a noncontributing resource — described as a “modern building.”

The building was constructed in 1914 as the Baltimore Bargain House warehouse. Minor
modifications to the street level do not detract from the building’s ability to reflect the
significance of the district and its role in that significance. The address is also incorrect.
Therefore, the nomination form is amended to change the status and address of the building, and
to address the parking garage on the block:

Baltimore Bargain House Warehouse, 1100 Wicomico Street, built in 1914, is a contributing
building in the Pigtown Historic District. The attached, but non-integral parking structure also
located on the block, constructed well outside of the district’s period of significance, is a
noncontributing structure.

See tax file #39183

The Maryland State Historic Preservation Office was notified of this amendment.

DISTRIBUTION: National Register property file; Nominating Authority (without
nomination attachment)
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the information requested. If any item does not apply to the property being documented, enter “N/A” for “not applicable.” For functions, architectural
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1. Name of Property

historic name  Pigtown Historic District

othernames  B-1394, Washington Village

2. Location

Roughly bounded by McHenry St. and Ramsay St. (N); W. Barre, S. Paca, Ostend, and

street & number  Wicomico Streets (E); Bush and Bayard Streets. (SW): and B&O Railroad tracks (NW) D not for publication
city or town  Baltimore ] sigieity
state Maryland code MD county Baltimore City code 510 zipcode 21230

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify that this [X] nomination []
request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of Historic
Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property [X] meets [] does
not meet the National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant [] nationally [] statewide [ locally. ((J
See continuation sheet for additional comments).
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Signatdre of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property [] meets [] does not meet the National Register criteria. ([J See continuation sheet for additional comments).

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

/)
4. Nafional Park Service Certification
? =
| hea(y. certify that this property is: { i Date of Action
entered in the National Register.

[] See continuation sheet.
[] determined eligible for the National
Register.
[] See continuation sheet.
[] Determined not eligible for the National
Register.
[J removed from the National Register.
[J other (explain):




Pigtown Historic District (B-1394)

Name of Property

Baltimore, Maryland

County and State

5. Classification

Ownership of
Property

(Check as many boxes as apply)

Category of Property

(Check only one box)

X private [ ] building(s)

X public-local X district

[ ] public-State [] site

[ ] public-Federal [] structure
[ ] object

Name of related multiple property listing

(Enter “N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing)

N/A

Number of Resources within Property

(Do not include previously listed resources in the count)

Contributing Noncontributing
2,412 36 buildings
sites
structures
objects
2,412 36 Total

number of contributing resources
previously
listed in the National Register

2

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

DOMESTIC/single dwelling

RELIGION/religious facility

COMMERCE/TRADE/business

GOVERNMENT/fire station

INDUSTRY/PROCESSING/EXTRACTION/

manufacturing facility

INDUSTRY/PROCESSING/EXTRACTION/

industrial storage

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

DOMESTIC/single dwelling

RELIGION/religious facility

COMMERCE/TRADE/business

GOVERNMENT/fire station

INDUSTRY/PROCESSING/EXTRACTION/

manufacturing facility

INDUSTRY/PROCESSING/EXTRACTION/

industrial storage

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

Federal

Greek Revival

[talianate

Renaissance Revival

Romanesque

Art Moderne

Narrative Description

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation Stone, brick

walls  Brick, stone
roof Slate, asphalt, tile
other

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets)
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Description Summary:

The Pigtown Historic District comprises some thirty-six city blocks lying in southwest Baltimore, south
and east of the Baltimore & Ohio Railroad yards. Developing initially as a community for railroad workers in
the 1840s, along Columbia Avenue (now Washington Boulevard), Ramsay, McHenry, and Poppleton Streets,
the area grew rapidly to the south during the industrial expansion of the 1850s and 1860s. Small two-story
brick rowhouses were built for workingmen on the narrow streets running south of Washington Boulevard, with
three-story gable-roofed, and then early Italianate rowhouses lining Washington Boulevard and Scott Street to
accommodate shopkeepers and upper-level managers. With the continued industrial growth of the area, the
land lying south of Cross Street to Mount Clare was developed in the 1880s, 1890s, and early 1900s as a
community for workingmen. Builders put up tidy, affordable two-story, two-bay-wide rowhouses that could be
purchased with the help of local building and loan associations. For more prosperous employees, a team of
builders erected several rows of three-story Italianate-style houses on the south side of Cross Street, west of
Scott. In the same decades builders put up rows of small houses east of Scott Street, both north and south of
Cross, but only a few blocks of this housing survived twentieth century industrial expansion and the building of
the Ravens football stadium and Martin Luther King Boulevard. The few surviving blocks east of Scott Street
have been included within the boundaries of the Historic District.

General Description:

The oldest buildings in the Historic District are directly related to the 1828 founding of the nation’s first
railroad, which secured its West Pratt Street site in 1830. Although the initial on-site operations were limited,
as laborers worked to clear land and lay track westward to Relay, then on to Ellicott City, Frederick, and points
west, car and engine building shops were soon established on Pratt Street. Worker housing began to go up on
both sides of Pratt Street in the 1830s, two-and-a-half story, late Federal-style houses like those seen in the 900
block of McHenry Street, west of Poppleton, or the two surviving examples on the north side of Washington
Boulevard, at 810-12.

After the B&O reached Cumberland in 1842 and was pushing onwards towards Harper’s Ferry and
finally, the Ohio River, the locomotive and car-building shops at the Mount Clare yards were working around
the clock to turn out engines and rolling stock. More and more German and Irish immigrants moved into the
neighborhood to work at the yards, and new housing had to be built. A new style of small, working class house
began to be built around 1845. The houses were called by contemporaries “two-story-and-attic” houses because
they had a small attic story, boasting two narrow front and back windows, set beneath a much lower-pitched
gable roof, instead of the steep roofs lit by dormer windows seen on the older federal-style houses. By the late
1840s and early 1850s, such houses were going up all over Baltimore. Always only two bays wide and usually
11’ to 12” wide, they had two small rooms per floor, with a set of tightly winding, narrow stairs rising between
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front and rear room. Many of these houses had a one-story rear addition to house the kitchen; others were built
on a higher basement so the kitchen could be located there. In the Pigtown Historic District, such early houses
can be seen on both sides of the 800 block of Washington Boulevard (at 814-18 and 862-70 on the north side,
and 825-27 on the south side; on the 900 block of McHenry Street; and along the west side of Wyeth, south of
Washington Boulevard.

By about 1850 Baltimore builders were putting up full three-story houses with gable roofs that were
much more commodious than the two-story-and-attic versions. Often, these houses first appeared on
commercial streets, like Washington Boulevard, to serve as combination storefront/residences, with the family
living above the street-level business. Many such buildings survive on the south side of Washington Boulevard,
east of Archer Street, at 801-11, 823, and 829-37; and on the north side at 820-24. A few three-story, gable-
roofed houses were also built along Scott Street, just south of Washington Boulevard, but only one survives, at
508 Scott Street. A pair of three-story, gable-roofed houses was built at 510-12 Wyeth Street in 1855 by
Charles Wyeth and one similar unit remains of a once longer row on the northeast corner of Carroll and Wyeth
Streets (816 Carroll), built by Wyeth c. 1851.

During the early 1850s another form of small house became common in most working-class areas of the
city. These houses were only two-stories high and two-bays-wide, with very low-pitched dormer roofs that
allowed for no attic space. Sometimes this type of house was built on a high basement so the kitchen could be
located there, rather than in a rear addition. Houses of this type can be found in the Historic District on the west
side of Poppleton Street, north of Ramsey; on the south side of Ramsay, west of Poppleton; and along the north
side of Washington Boulevard, west of Poppleton Street.

In fashionable sections of Baltimore like Mount Vernon Place, a new residential style of architecture
began to make an appearance in the early 1850s. Modeled after the stylish three-and-four-story brownstones
being built in New York City that had elaborate, projecting cornices and often pedimented door and window
treatments, such houses took their stylistic inspiration from the Renaissance palazzos of Florence and Rome.
Hence, the new style was described as “being in the Italian manner,” or Italianate in style. The new style made
its first appearance in the Historic District in the groups of three-story, two-bay-wide houses built along either
side of Scott Street, south of Washington Boulevard , between 1868 and 1870.

Scott Street early became the choice residential area in the district and it is lined with three-story houses
all the way south to Cross Street. Development proceeded in a north to south direction, therefore the houses
facing Scott Street at Cross, built about 1880, are the latest of the group. Although boasting stylish bracketed
cornices, decorated with rows of scroll-sawn modillions, the houses themselves were quite narrow for the type,
most being only 13” wide. There are only two groups of three-bay-wide three-story houses on Scott Street. In
1869 five 18’8”-wide houses went up at 517-25 Scott Street, just north of the earliest church built in the district,
the Otterbein Chapel of the Church of the United Brethren in Christ, erected in 1857 at the northeast corner of
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Scott and Carroll Streets. The other group is located on the east side of Scott Street, directly north of Mangold,
at 701-17.

By the mid-1880s a more elaborate form of Italianate cornice was being used by Baltimore builders.
This newer form unashamedly made use of the more decorative designs now made possible by the use of steam-
powered scroll and jig saws. These “late Italianate-style” cornices have overly long end and center scroll-sawn
brackets that usually connect to a lower molding strip, and deep frieze areas decorated with complicated jig-
sawn patterns. Houses in this style were first built in the Historic District in a three-story, two-bay-wide
version on the southwest side of Cross Street, west of Scott, in 1879, a very early date for the style. Along three
blocks of Cross Street, Joseph M. Cone, already a well-known local builder, put up three groups of ten such
houses each. More significant than the new-style cornice, was the molded brick decoration used around the
doors, a harbinger of the use of molded brick and terra cotta to decorate facades popularized by the Queen Anne
style in the 1880s.

Joseph Cone, Baltimore’s first large-scale speculative builder, worked primarily in northwest Baltimore,
developing block after block around Harlem Park in the late 1870s and early 1880s. Most of these three-story
late Italianate-style houses also made use of molded brick decorative motifs. Cone also built late Italianate-
style houses in two-story versions in northwest Baltimore. Many examples of such houses can be seen in the
Historic District and throughout working class sections of the city. Generally builders constructed three-bay-
wide versions on the main streets and two-bay-wide versions on the narrower, mid-block streets. One very
impressive grouping of three-bay-wide houses of this type can be seen at 901-23 Washington Boulevard, and
around the corner at 1202-36 Cross Street. These thirty houses were built in 1884-85 by Wilbur Stubbs, who
gave his houses an extra decorative flourish by adding an elaborate molded brick belt course as well as molded
brick bands with keystones above each door and window lintel. Houses in the 1100 and 1200 blocks of the
south side of Cross Street are also three bays wide and have similar molded brick belt courses. Three-bay-wide
houses were also built on the east side of the 1100 block of Hamburg Street, by William and Charles Woods in
1884-85, and along the west side of the 1100 block of Paca Street.

The two-bay-wide late Italianate-style house was the type most commonly built in the Pigtown Historic
District in the period 1884-1890. Such rows can be found primarily in the blocks between Cross and Ostend
Streets, west of Scott, and the blocks northeast of Cross Street and south of Carroll.

By the 1890s yet another style of rowhouse was becoming popular in Baltimore and it, too, made an
appearance in Pigtown. The new style, called the Renaissance Revival, or neoclassical style, sought a return to
simple classical forms in response to the perceived excesses of the Queen Anne style. Such rowhouses bore
simple neoclassical white cornices, after 1892 made of sheet metal in compliance with a new Baltimore law to
help prevent the spread of house fires. Narrow, brown brick, often called Roman brick, became popular for
facades, and was accented by white marble trim. In the 1890s a rage for swell-fronted houses swept Baltimore,
especially in the new sections being built along both East and West North Avenue, and in the Charles Village
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area. Rows went up in Pigtown in the 1300 block of Washington Boulevard, the 1200 block of Carroll Street,
and the 1300 block of S. Carey Street, all built between 1899 and 1900.

Another version of Neoclassical-style rowhouses were those with porch-fronts and second-floor bay
windows. Called at the time “Philadelphia porch-front houses,” because that’s where the style first became
popular, they were especially popular in Baltimore, in both three- and two-story models, in the Charles Village
and Druid Hill Park areas. The Pigtown Historic District also has examples of this style of rowhouse, built by
the firm of Benjamin Bennett and George F. Beavin, between 1908 and 1912. The firm first built unusual
looking porch-front houses, with no upper bay windows, on either side of S. Carey Street, between Carroll and
Ward Streets in 1908-09. The sheet metal cornices are stamped with a classical swag design. Then they built
unusual rows on either side of the 1200 block of Cleveland Street, which had alternating groups of flat-fronted,
and bay-window, porch-front houses, in 1900-10. Finally in 1911-12 the firm built two rows of true bay-
window, porch-front houses in the 1400 block of S. Carey Street, just southwest of the rows on Cleveland.

More common are the rows of simple two-story, two-bay-wide houses with either fairly plain or
bracketed sheet metal cornices, built in the blocks southwest of Carey Street in the early 1900s. The stylistic
epitome of this form of rowhouse, called by builders “marble houses” began to be built around 1905 by some of
the city’s largest-scale building developers. The descriptive phrase is said to have originated with Frank Novak,
later known as the “two-story King of East Baltimore.” Novak reasoned that if marble trim and marble steps
helped sell fashionable rowhouses in Mount Vernon or the blocks to the north, it might give the two-story
houses he was putting up near Patterson Park a competitive edge. Calling them “marble houses” helped draw
attention to what they offered. Novak began designing rows built of brown brick with white sheet metal
cornices that not only had marble steps, but also marble-faced basements, and marble door and window lintels
and sills. Houses with this much marble were only built facing wide, main streets. Houses on side streets
probably only had a marble stringer instead of a full marble basement; houses on back streets only had marble
steps; and houses in the narrow, mid-block streets had no marble at all.

One of Novak’s predecessors and mentors, the firm of August Weber and Joseph Hirt, put up brown
brick marble houses in one of the blocks of the Historic District just north of Carroll Park, in 1911-13. These
were the last houses built in the district.

Of special interest in the Historic District are rows constructed by local builders, whose designs can be
seen nowhere else in the city. Perhaps because they were working in an isolated area they felt brave enough to
experiment with entirely new forms to make their product a little more saleable. Whatever the inspiration,
several groups of rowhouses in the Pigtown Historic District are unique to Baltimore and show a rich
imagination and fine craftsmanship.

Perhaps the earliest such row is the group of fifteen houses built on the west side of Sargeant Street, just
north of Ostend, in 1886. Here, at 1156-82 Sargeant, each house has a porch-front, but there is no front yard.
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The groups of five houses each on either end of the row have steeply pitched roofs with the gable end facing the
street and the projecting eaves supported by wooden brackets. The center houses have steep hipped roofs,
dormers, and cornices supported by carved wooden brackets. The group was built by Charles Dietz, a German
immigrant.

Other houses of interest make use of molded brick and terra cotta ornament that could have easily been
obtained from the nearby brickyards or the Maryland Terra Cotta Company, located a few blocks southwest of
the district. A number of builders of two-story Italianate houses in the area, including the 800 block of
Washington Boulevard, the 1100 block of Sargeant Street, and along Cross Street, use molded brick decorations
as belt courses, and in door and window lintels and keystones.

Between 1895 and 1908 several different local builders raised rows near Carroll Park that made
prominent use of locally-produced terra cotta decorative tiles. The first houses built, at 1301-25 Glyndon
Street, used a row of these tiles as a highly decorative belt course. At the southern end of the same block, 1327-
49 Glyndon, and around the corner at 1334-50 James Street, builder Robert Carswell used terra cotta plaques as
door and window lintel keystones, arranged in rows across the fagade, and as part of a belt course.

Another unusual row went up on the southeast side of Cleveland Street, southwest of Cross Street. The
row, at 1117-51 Cleveland Street, shows the influence of the colonial revival style, just then becoming popular,
in the false gable roofs with dormer windows. The sheet metal cornice has a deep, plain frieze area, another
“colonial revival” feature. The paired first floor windows, however, are associated with the earlier Queen Anne
style.

Churches

The oldest church building in the Historic District, the Otterbein Chapel of the Church of the United
Brethren in Christ, was erected in 1857 at the northeast corner of Scott and Carroll Streets, and is already listed
on the National Register of Historic Places. This Greek Revival-style brick building is two-stories tall and
three-bays wide, with its end gable, “temple-front” facing Scott Street. The triangular pediment facing the
street is framed by wooden moldings, the bottom molding extending back to form the top of the fagade facing
Carroll Street. The pediment is supported by four brick pilasters on the front fagcade and similar pilasters frame
the tall, narrow windows on the Carroll Street fagade. There is a wide central doorway topped by a round-
arched transom, set beneath a second-floor pair of narrow, arched windows. A set of narrow windows, set one
above the other, within recessed panels, frame the central bay. A one-story, three-bay-wide building with a
central triangular pediment and wooden molded cornice like that on the front of the church, extends to the rear
of the church, facing Carroll Street.
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A German church once occupied the northwest corner of Cross and Nanticoke Streets, at 1103 Cross,
but it was replaced by a 1930s or 1940s-era small commercial building, which is not a contributing structure.
The former Cross Street M.E. Church stands at the other end of the block, at the southwest corner of Cross and
Cleveland Streets. Now called the Southern Friendship Baptist Church, the simple one-story structure has its
gable-end and entrance facing Cross Street and runs back along Cleveland three bays. A pair of tall, pointed-
arch windows flank a central doorway, itself framed by a tall, pointed arch, set beneath a large oculus filled with
stained glass. The small building has been covered with formstone.

A small but important simple brick church stands at 1330 Carroll Street, southwest of Carey. In 1900

the Trustees of Mount Olive A.M.E. church received the deed to two lots on the northwest side of Carroll

Street. They built a two-story, three-bay-wide brick church. The end gable faces Carroll Street and the building
runs back to the west four bays. The windows are regular 1/1 double-hung sash with triangular transoms
decorated with diagonal wood struts. The doorway is located in the northernmost bay and also has a triangular
transom. The wide central window on the second floor of the fagade is divided by wooden struts. A belt course
made up of square terra cotta tiles runs across the fagade. The peak of the gable roof above the entrance fagade
is crowned with an open-sided steeple, a structure composed of four turned posts supporting a hipped roof cap.

The Catholics in the Historic District did not get their own church until 1888 when St. Jerome’s opened
on the south side of Hamburg Street, east of Cross. The simple brick building is three stories tall, three bays
wide and ten bays deep, although the front bay seems to have been added later. The building has a hipped roof
and a stepped brick cornice. The entrance fagade is simply adorned with an upper level of three pointed-arch
openings, now filled in with brick, and two lower-level paired rectangular windows, with stone lintels and sills,
which frame the entranceway. The double entrance doors have a pointed-arch transom set beneath a lintel
decorated with a projecting, molded brick band. Above the doorway, a tall triangular pediment, outlined with
molded bricks, rises to the second floor level. The fagade is further articulated with brick belt courses. Full-
height brick buttresses, ending in chimney caps that project above the roofline, frame every two bays of the
nave.

The present church facing Scott Street dates to 1914. It is built of dark grey, rock-faced stone with light
stone trim in a medieval Italian style. The nave is three stories tall, flanked by one-and-a-half-story side aisles,
and there is a rear transept. The front fagade is distinguished by two tall, square towers framing the entrance
bay. The tower on the north side of the church is larger and has a slightly flared, low-pitched pyramidal roof,
topped by a cross. Each corner is buttressed; light smooth stone trim caps each buttress, is used to frame the
lancet windows lighting each story of the tower, as belt courses between floors, and at the cornice. The
southern tower is taller, narrower, and more elaborate in detail, with a tall octagonal cupola topped with a flared
octagonal roof. Each corner is marked by a stone buttress, which terminates in a tall, octagonal finial topped by
a conical roof. The three-story entrance fagade has a set of three round-arched doors, set beneath a deep parapet
with a central triangular pediment; the whole is supported by engaged columns. Above the entrance level, a
two-story round arch, outlined in light stone, frames a large round window set above a set of three, much
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smaller, arched windows. The end gable of the roof is outlined with a light stone triangular pediment; the frieze
is made up of a row of small arches, as on the cornice of the northern tower. Tall arched windows, framed in
contrasting light stone and set between buttresses, light the side aisles and clerestory of the nave.

Similar in style to the original St. Jerome’s, the former Scott Street Baptist Church (now Pleasant Rock
Baptist) is located on the southeast corner of Cross and Scott Streets. A frame church was first built on the site
in 1888, replaced in the early 1900s by a brick church with stone trim—a temple-front design with a three-bay-
wide fagade and a seven-bay-deep nave. The most striking element of the fagade is the huge stained glass
window ornamenting the fagade, set beneath a very low-pitched pointed arch. This same flattened arch frames
the doors on either side of the fagade and the three smaller stained glass windows set beneath the large central
window. Each corner of the fagade, and each bay of the nave, is marked by a tall, thin brick buttress with stone
shoulders. On the fagade, each of these buttresses is topped by a small, conical roof cap.

The three largest churches in the district are built of stone in variations of the Romanesque style. The
congregation of St. Jerome’s Roman Catholic Church outgrew its original building and in the summer of 1914
broke ground for the new church, built facing Scott Street, just south of Hamburg.

In like manner, the District’s first Episcopal Church, Henshaw Memorial, outgrew its building on the
corner of Barre and Carroll Streets and in the 1890s erected a massive brick structure with a stone facade on the
south side of Washington Boulevard, just east of Calendar Street. The church is built in an Italian Romanesque
style and has a long nave anchored by a corner tower with pyramidal roof. The predominant decorative motif
1s the set of three tall arched openings supported on granite columns, set on a tall base in the center of the
facade. The openings undoubtedly originally framed stained glass windows, but are now filled with brick.
Above, a group of five arched piercings light the clerestory. Two very wide arched entranceways flank the
central nave; one in the base of the tower, the other serving as the entrance to both the church and the parish
house to the east.

Later, a brick parish house and school were built just east of the church, extending all the way south to
Reinhart Street. Two stories tall, with a steep, seamed tin mansard roof, this elaborate, now-stuccoed building
is marked by a three-story, castellated entrance bay. Most of the Washington Boulevard fagade of the building
is only one bay deep; the wide central entrance bay leads to a garden courtyard, with the parish house running
across the rear of the lot, connecting to the front building on its east side. This connecting portion forms the
eastern edge of the courtyard and still has its original two-story open porches. The central bay rises a full three
stories and is topped by a castellated roofline. On the first story, a wide barrel-vaulted archway, springing from
stone columns with carved capitals, leads to the courtyard. The second level is marked by a set of three
rectangular windows, topped by stone panels. The third level has three round-arched windows. On either side
of the entrance bay, the first floor of the building is lit by a group of three rectangular windows; the second floor
by three round-arched windows; and the roof by paired windows set within a wide, triangular-pedimented
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dormer. Each set of windows has a stone lintel. A stone belt course extends across the fagade at the base of the
entry arch and between the first and second floors.

Several blocks further west on Washington Boulevard, southwest of Carey Street, a small brick, Gothic-
style chapel was built in 1888 for the United Methodist congregation. The chapel is one-story tall, three bays
wide, and only one bay deep. A slightly projecting entryway with a steep triangular pediment occupies the
center of the fagade, flanked on either side by stained glass windows set beneath pointed arches. The chapel
retains its original seamed tin roof. As on some of the houses nearby, terra cotta squares decorate the entry
pediment and the water table. As this part of the neighborhood expanded in the 1890s and first decade of the
twentieth century, the congregation built a much larger, more impressive stone church south of the chapel. Built
of rock-faced stone, with smooth stone trim, the tall nave connects to a wide transept. Large stained glass
windows decorate both the fagade and the north transept end. Corner buttresses frame the fagade and articulate
the corners of the transept. The buildings now belong to the Wayman’s A.M.E. Church.

List of Contributing Properties

Individual addresses of rowhouse units are referenced according to their city block number. The first
block listed, 282, contains some of the oldest housing in the district and is the block farthest north and closest to
the B&O Railroad yards. Block 846, the next listed, is directly to its south. From this point forward blocks are
listed in geographical, not numerical sequence, moving first from west to east north of Washington Boulevard
to the eastern boundary at Barre Street; then dropping down to the next row, north of Carroll Street, and moving
from east to west to Cross Street, and continuing in a similar fashion.

Blocks 282-283

These blocks were built up in the decade c. 1838-48, just east of the Baltimore & Ohio Railroad yards
complex at Mount Clare, and contain some of the oldest houses in the Historic District. Today, the B&O paint
shed borders Block 282 on its western edge, extending south from McHenry to Ramsay Street. Only three
historic buildings remain on Block 283, at the southeast corner of McHenry and Poppleton.

903-9 McHenry was originally a row of two-and-a-half-story houses much like 919-21 further west on
the block. In the 1870s the roofs of 907-9 were raised to include a full third story and a “modern™ shed roof and
Italianate cornice added. 911-15 McHenry are a row of typical two-story-and-attic houses, set on high
basements. 917 and 923 McHenry are now three-story Italianate-style houses, but may originally have
resembled the two-and-a-half-story pair at 919-21, in between them. 901, just west of Poppleton Street, is a
three-story Italianate house built in the late 1870s that served as a corner store. The original storefront cornice
survives, but not the storefront windows.



NPS Form 10-800-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places PigtownNHistorii I;iStrictrt (B-1394)
Continuation Sheet drme rrErperty

Baltimore, Maryland
Section _7 Page_9 County and State

Most of the houses on the west side of Poppleton Street (302-14, north of Ryan and 316-38, north of
Ramsay) went up in the early 1850s and are of the extremely modest two-story, two-bay-wide (11°10”) type,
with a low-pitched gable roof. The builders seem to have been William Eichelberger and David Brown. 312-
14, however, just north of Ryan, are two-story Italianate houses and 330 is a three-bay-wide two-story
Italianate. 308 and 322 have had their roofs raised to a full three stories and an Italianate cornice added. 316,
just south of Ryan, is a three-story, gable-roofed house. The north side of Ryan Street has a pair of two-story-
and-attic houses at 914-16 and a pair of two-story, gable-roofed houses at 908-10. 906 and 912 Ryan Street are
new, non-contributing infill houses.

The south side of Ryan Street and the north side of Ramsay were built in 1855 by John Maloney, who
also built rows north of Pratt Street. The houses are quite small, two-story, two-bay-wide (12°8”) early
Italianate houses with shed roofs and simple brick dentil cornices. The row on Ryan originally extended from
903-21, but now 907, a new, non-contributing structure, interrupts the row. Around the corner, 900-18 Ramsay
Street are 12” and 13’-wide.

Block 846

This small block facing Washington Boulevard, west of Poppleton Street and south of Ramsay, was
filled with modest, two-story, gable-roofed working class houses built in 1852-53 by James Ryan, who also lent
his name to Ryan Street in the next block north. The houses at 903-29 Ramsay Street are identical to 920-30
Washington Boulevard, two-story, two-bay-wide (12’) gable-roofed houses sitting on high basements, which
originally housed the kitchen, since there are no backbuildings on these shallow lots. 917-21 Ramsay have had
third stories and Italianate cornices added. 920 Washington Boulevard is a separate three-story, three-bay-
wide Italianate building, which originally served as a corner store. It is covered with formstone and the original
cornice is gone; 926 has had its roof raised to three stories. At the western end of the block, 932-34 Washington
Boulevard are later two-story houses with sheet metal cornices. Ryan also built three houses on the east side of
Amity Street in 1857, which are now gone. Only three of the original row of four three-story, two-bay-wide
early Italianate-style houses survive on the west side of Poppleton Street, at 404-8. 410 is a one-story brick
commercial building. Hand-painted signage identifies it as the “Diamond Building.”

Block 847

This long block extends east from Poppleton Street to Scott Street, north of Washington Boulevard. The
only houses surviving face Washington Boulevard. The first section of the block to be improved was near the
corner of Washington Boulevard and Scott Street, where a pair of two-and-a-half story houses still stands at
810-12, probably built in the 1830s. There are two groups of two-story-and-attic houses at 814-18 and at 862-
70 Washington Boulevard, built in the late 1840s or early 1850s. Similar houses once stood on the site of the
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Walters Bath House, west of Calendar Street. In the early-mid 1850s, houses were also being built along the
west side of Scott Street, south of Ramsay, and the south side of Ramsay, west of Scott. This land was owned
by local brickmakers Burns & Russell, as well as James McHenry. In 1859 the local builder Thomas Willis put
up a long row of nineteen two-story, two-bay-wide (12’) houses on the south side of Ramsay, east of Calendar.
These no longer survive but probably resembled the gable-roofed houses on the west side of Poppleton, north of
Ramsay.

Another group of small houses was built in 1871, along the east side of Poppleton Street, south of
Ramsay; the south side of Ramsay; and the north side of the alley then known as Burns Alley, but now called
Clifford Street. Houses on the alley measured only 10°2” wide and those on Ramsay, only 11° wide. Although
now gone, the group is of special interest because the houses were built by the co-owners of a nearby brickyard,
William H. Pitcher and Y.O. Wilson.

The remaining structures are all Italianate in style, except for the modern Washington Village branch of
the Enoch Pratt Free Library, a non-contributing resource. 800 Washington Boulevard is a nondescript two-
story building covered with formstone, with no remaining original features. 802-8 is a row of three-story, two-
bay-wide early Italianate-style houses, as are 820-24, all built in the in the late 1860s. East of the new Pratt
Library branch there is a long row made up of three different groups of two-story, three-bay-wide, late
[talianate-style houses, built in the 1880s at 826-32; 834-36; and 838-44. All have molded brick fagade
ornaments. Each set of cornices has a different jig-sawn frieze design. 834-36 have distinctive segmentally
arched door and window lintels where every other brick has a molded rope design; there is also a molded brick
belt course. The cornices of these two houses have distinctive bull’s-eyes decorating the frieze. At 826-32, the
houses have lintels topped with a projecting brick band, with a keystone. Here, the decorative belt course is
made up of stretcher and header bricks to create a notched effect. West of the Library, 858-60 is a pair of three-
story, two-bay-wide late Italianate-style houses, which, with the similar building at 872, frame the row of two-
story-and-attic houses at 862-70. 874-78 are three-story, two-bay-wide units with no original features
remaining. 882-84 is a pair of two-story late Italianate buildings, with a combined later storefront. 886-88 is a
pair of two-story, three-bay-wide late Italianate houses.

West of Calendar Street, the 1912 Walters Bath House, which occupies the wide corner lot, is already
listed on the National Register of Historic Places. It is a one-and-a-half story neoclassical style red brick
building with white marble trim. There are two sets of double doors—one to the men’s section, another to the
women’s, that have round-arched transoms. The lintels have marble keystones. The two windows placed at the
center of the facade have splayed marble lintels and sills. A parapet roofline is set above a block-modillion
cornice. Just west of the bath house is the former Fire Engine House No. 78, a three-story, three-bay-wide late
[talianate-style building, with a set of three round-arched windows set above the wide firehouse doors. Each
window has a projecting molded brick lintel that springs from a capital. The cornice is supported by two long,
scroll-sawn end brackets. The original houses on the rest of the street, extending west to Poppleton, have been
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replaced by a modern one-story church building, the Holy Nation Tabernacle Church, at 908-12 Washington
Boulevard, considered a non-contributing structure.

Block 848

The only structures surviving on this block are the buildings in the commercial 700 block of Washington
Boulevard, extending east from Scott to Barre Street. With two modern exceptions, all are Italianate in style
and many retain their original storefronts. The corner lot, at Barre Street, is now empty. To its west, at 756,
stands a two-story, five-bay-wide c. late 1930s commercial storefront building of brown brick with a wide first
floor storefront and a bank of plate glass windows with transoms on its second floor. 758 is a two-story, three-
bay-wide late Italianate storefront which retains its storefront cornice and paneled, three-sided plate glass
storefront. To its west, 760-62 is a pair of later neoclassical-style two-story, two-bay-wide storefronts with a
continuous sheet metal cornice at the roofline and over the storefronts. The latter, however, have been
modernized.

An Art Moderne-style bank, Fraternity Federal, occupies the central portion of the block, at 764
Washington Boulevard. West of the bank, 772-74 Washington Boulevard was once a pair of Italianate houses,
separated by a sallyport, whose facades have been stuccoed over and modern storefronts added. 776-80 are
later neoclassical-style three-story, two-bay-wide storefront buildings built after 1912 of brown, Roman brick
with a white, sheet metal cornice. Each store has a three-sided plate-glass storefront set on a paneled base. A
very deep decorative cornice extends across both storefronts, topped by a crown molding and originally marked
by a row of Doric pilasters, only a few of which remain. 782-86 is a group of three three-story late Italianate-
style storefront buildings, some of which retain elements of their original storefronts. Each has a sheet metal
storefront cornice framed by end brackets and decorated with a row of dentils. 788 Washington Boulevard, at
the corner of Scott Street, is a similar late Italianate-style storefront building with a differently detailed cornice.
Unlike the other storefronts on the street, the door is not recessed, but is flush with the fagade.

Block 852

This block, located south of Washington Boulevard, east of Scott and west of Barre Streets, was
developed beginning in 1854 by the Elders and Trustees of the German Evangelical Reformed Church. They
began to lease lots on the south side of Washington Boulevard in that year but only one pair of the original
three-story, gable-roofed buildings, at 778-81, just west of Otterbein Street, survives. Other similar houses have
had their roofs raised and Italianate cornices added. All have modern storefronts.

Immediately west of Barre, 759 Washington Boulevard is a three-story, two-bay-wide Italianate
storefront with its original storefront cornice intact. Immediately west, 761-63 is a pair of later two-story, two-
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bay-wide storefronts with neoclassical style sheet metal cornice; the two-sided storefront windows and recessed
central doorways survive. Further west, 765-67 is a pair of three-story Italianate storefronts whose first floors
have been remodelled; 769 is a single three-story, swell-front building; and 771-75 are three individual three-
story, late Italianate-style storefront buildings. The building at 771 Washington Boulevard retains its original
bracketed storefront cornice as well as the original plate glass store windows set above paneled bases.

?

West of Otterbein, 777 Washington Boulevard is a three-story, three-bay-wide Italianate-style storefront
and 779-81 is the pair of gable-roofed buildings mentioned above. The structure at 783 now serves as a
storefront church. It is a one-story building with a decorative triangular pediment set against a parapet roofline.
Further west, 785 is a late Italianate-style three-story, two-bay-wide storefront, with no original storefront
details.

The east side of Scott Street in this block was improved with substantial three-story Italianate-style
houses built between 1868 and 1870. John Sedicum built 505-15 Scott, each of which is 13’-wide. The
cornice, decorated with a row of scroll-sawn modillions, survives intact on all of the houses except for 513-15.
The corner pair, at 501-03, is later and has a modern storefront that wraps around the block onto Washington
Boulevard. South of a narrow alleyway, the row continues at 517-25 Scott Street. Here, each three-bay-wide
house is 18’8 wide. The Elders of the church hired builders to construct the row in 1869-70.

On the northeast corner of Scott and Carroll Street stands the oldest church building in the Historic
District—the Otterbein Chapel of the Church of the United Brethren in Christ, built between 1855 and 1857 and
individually listed on the National Register of Historic Places. The church acted as a developer and built the
four two-story late Italianate-style houses, just to the east, at 776-82 Carroll Street in 1884-86. Four similar, but
earlier, houses were built by the church elders at 506-12 Otterbein Street, north of Carroll in 1871; only 510-12
survive, but a similar pair can be found at 516-18. On the east side of Otterbein, the church elders put up a row
of narrow (12’ wide) three-story houses at the same time, at 507-17 Otterbein Street. They have a simple,
scroll-sawn modillion cornice. A group of very similar houses went up in 1870 on the west side of Barre Street,
at 903-11, built by Henry Schaumberg and William Stran, who also built the row of three-story early Italianate-
style houses on the north side of Carroll Street, east of Otterbein, in 1872. 766-74 are two bays wide; 758-64
are three bays wide. A pair of two-story houses, just west of Barre, at 754-56 Carroll, were built about the same
time.

Block 851

Moving west along the south side of Washington Boulevard, this long block extends west of Scott Street
to Parkin. The block began to be developed in early 1852 by the owner of most of the land, Charles Wyeth. He
laid out Wyeth Street and sold land on each side to different builders, as well as land on the north side of Carroll
and the south side of Washington Boulevard. Most of the houses facing Washington Boulevard were built in
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the early 1850s and have gable roofs. All but one pair are three stories tall and two bays wide. The exception,
821-23, is a pair of two-story-and attic houses located at the east corner of Wyeth Street, probably built by
Wyeth himself by early 1852. 801-11 Washington Boulevard was a row of three-story, gable-roofed houses,
but 801 and 803 later received a new roof and a heavy Italianate cornice. 819 has a gable roof and was built

c. 1852. 813-17 is a group of three-story, two-bay-wide Italianate-style houses built in 1872 by Conrad Rippel.
Most now have modern storefronts.

West of Wyeth Street, 825 Washington Boulevard is a three-story Italianate house with an Italianate-
style storefront with bracketed cornice. 827 is a two-story-and-attic house and 829-37 is a unified group of
three-story, two-bay-wide, gable-roofed houses built by Wyeth by early 1852. The four similar houses west of
Archer Street, at 841-47 Washington Boulevard, were built in 1853 by Thomas Evans.

The two narrow mid-block streets in this long block, Wyeth and Archer, were built up with modest
housing. Charles Wyeth put up three two-story-and-attic houses at 502-8 Wyeth and a pair of three-story,
gable-roofed houses at 510-12 in 1855. Each is 12” wide. The southern portion of the block now has new
housing, built in a similar style that is non-contributing to the Historic District. Charles Wyeth built the first
two-story-and-attic houses on the east side of Wyeth, at 503-9, before 1852; the rest of the row, as well as
houses on the north side of Carroll Street, was built by Daniel Hapgold in 1855. On Archer Street, the row on
the east side, at 501-15, was built in 1855 by James E. Davis. Each of the original twelve houses was only
10°9” wide and two rooms deep; the tall basement housed the kitchen. The row has a simple brick dentil
cornice. The row across the street, at 500-12 Archer, was built in 1869 by Henry White. Seven of the original
nine houses survive and each is 12” wide. The simple wooden cornice is decorated with a row of narrow block
modillions. Only one historic house remains on the north side of Carroll Street in this block, just east of Wyeth,
a three-story, gable-roofed two-bay-wide structure that was originally part of the longer row built by Daniel
Hapgold in 1855. Hapgold’s other houses on Carroll Street and the east side of Wyeth have been replaced with
new and non-contributing two-story units. No housing was ever built on the east side of Parkin Street in this
block.

Housing on the west side of Scott Street in this block closely resembles the Italianate-style three-story,
two-bay-wide units built on the east side in 1869-70, with their simple, scroll-sawn modillion cornices. The
group of seven houses, at 516-28 Scott Street, are 13 wide and were built by Benjamin Buck in 1869-70. One
older, three-story gable-roofed house survives to the north, at 508, probably built by Charles Wyeth in the early
1850s.

Block 850

This block, bordering on the south side of Washington Boulevard, west of Parkin to Cross Street, was
not developed until the early 1870s. At that time the Trustees of the Sheppard Asylum owned the western half
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of the block and the Trustees of Zion Church owned the eastern half. In 1875 the two groups of Trustees agreed
to open 20’-wide Calendar Street (then called Sheppard Alley) and in 1880 they deeded ground to the city so
that St. Peter, Reinhardt Street, and Sheppard Alley could be laid out. The first sale of property took place in
1873, at the southeast corner of Cross Street and Washington Boulevard; the four 15’-wide lots to the east were
leased in 1874. Today, the corner of Washington Boulevard and Cross Street is occupied by an unusual three-
story building with a storefront fagade at 1044 Cross Street, which extends back becoming 931-37 Washington
Boulevard, all of which have first floor storefronts. Today the building is vacant and undergoing renovation.
The original late Italianate-style bracketed cornice no longer exists, but outlines of the brackets can be seen on
one of the facades. Just east of this grouping is a pair of non-descript two-story buildings at 931-33 Washington
Boulevard, both of which have been covered with formstone and lack original details.

West of Parkin Street, the south side of Washington Boulevard contains two and three-story late
Italianate-style houses, a large Episcopal Church, St. Paul the Apostle, and its adjoining parish house. Much of
the land in this block was developed by Meyer Reinhardt who gave his name to Reinhart Street, the narrow,
east-west street running between Calendar and Parkin. Reinhardt built a group of five three-story, two-bay-
wide late Italianate houses at 849-57 Washington Boulevard (just west of Parkin) in 1880-81. The original 2/2
sash survives at 851 and an original paired first-floor window with transom survives at 853. He also built five
similar two-story, two-bay-wide houses on the north side of Reinhart Street, at 844-52. The easternmost house,
at the corner of Parkin Street, has a stone engraved “Reinhard Street,” mid-way up the fagade, facing the corner.

On the south side of Reinhart Street, there are three two-story, two-bay-wide late Italianate-style houses
with jig-sawn friezes, at 845-49 (just west of Parkin), that sit on high basements. West of these, there are two
groups of later two-story, two-bay-wide houses, at 851-55 and 863-69, that have stepped brick cornices. A
modern garage occupies the space between them. The same builder put up 513-21 Calendar Street, just around
the corner, at the same time. The west side of Calendar, north of Reinhart, was built up earlier, with a row of
two-story, two-bay-wide late Italianate houses with jig-sawn friezes, at 504-12.

West of Calendar Street, the south side of Washington Boulevard is lined with a row of two-story, three-
bay-wide late Italianate houses with Queen Anne-style decorative brickwork. The group of twelve houses, at
901-23, was built in 1884 by William and Wilbur Stubbs, who also built eighteen similar houses in 1885 on the
northeast side of Cross Street, just around the block. Each house has a decorative brick belt course, composed
of alternating projecting and receding bricks, as well a slightly projecting, keystoned cap at the top of each
segmentally-arched door and window lintel. 1202-32 Cross Street are identical two-story houses; 1234-36
Cross are three-stories tall, but otherwise identical.
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Block 856

This large triangular-shaped block extends south from Carroll Street between Cross and Scott. The
block began to be developed by the Elders, Deacons, and Trustees of the German Reformed Congregation of
Baltimore Town in 1858, when they leased lots on the west side of Scott Street to Thomas Willis, an active
builder in the area. Here Willis put up three-story, two-bay-wide (13’6”) Italianate houses with simple
modillion cornices, at 602-32. South of Nanticoke Street, Jacob Saum, a local builder who at this same time
was building houses on the south side of Union Square, erected a row of similar houses in 1870, but these have
been replaced by a modern school building.

Most of the remaining houses in the block went up in 1870 and 1871. Robert Scarborough put up a long
row of three-story, two-bay-wide houses on the northeast side of Cross Street, west of Wyeth, at 1000-28 Cross.
The cornices have three long brackets and a short jig-sawn frieze. Scarborough also built the nineteen houses
on the west side of Wyeth Street (600-36), north of Nanticoke, and 638-46 Wyeth, south of Nanticoke in 1871-
72. Here the cornices are decorated with a row of narrow, scroll-sawn modillions. Another pair of builders,
Hezekiah Clockner and Joseph A. King, put up the long row of very similar houses on the east side of Wyeth
Street, at 601-37, in 1870. All of these houses are only two rooms deep and sit on high basements where the
kitchen is located. Clockner and King also improved both sides of Archer Street in 1870, building rows of very
similar two-story, two-bay-wide (12”) houses at 601-37 and 600-36. The ten houses built in 1871 on the east
side of Wyeth, south of Nanticoke by Jacob W. Ijams, are now gone.

1100-42 Cross Street, north of Nanticoke, are later two-story, two-bay-wide houses with sheet metal
cornices and paired first floor windows. At the north end of the row, at 1144-46, just south of Carroll, there is a
pair of three-story, three-bay-wide houses with highly decorative stepped brick cornices and decorative brick
door and window lintels. The group of two-story, two-bay-wide late Italianate-style houses east of this row, at
841-51 Carroll Street, have jig-sawn friezes and were built in the 1880s.

Blocks 857/858

These two blocks lie east of Scott Street and south of Carroll to Hamburg Street, and were mainly
developed between 1870 and 1882 by the vestry of St. Peter’s Church, which owned the land. Here, three story
Italianate-style houses face the main streets—Scott, Hamburg, and Barre, but the latter are much narrower than
those on Scott or Hamburg Street. The narrower, mid-block streets—Woodward and Mangold, as well as
Carroll—are built up with two-story Italianate houses. Most of the three-story houses have very similar scroll-
sawn modillion cornices, reflecting their early 1870s date.

The first houses were built along the north side of Hamburg Street in 1870 by Frederick Weis at 776-84.
They are three-story, two-and three-bay-wide houses with scroll-sawn modillion cornices. In 1871 Conrad
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Rippel and Henry Saumenig put up eight three-story, three-bay-wide (15”) houses at 801-15 Scott Street, north
of Hamburg, with similar cornices, as well as four identical houses at 711-17 Scott, north of Mangold. The five
three-story, two-bay-wide (12°9”) houses to the north, at 701-9 Scott Street, were built in 1875, by Celsius
Soffell. Their cornice is supported by three long brackets and decorated by a row of dentils. The same year
Soffell also put up a long row of two-story, two-bay-wide (12”) houses on the south side of Woodward Street,
east of Scott, at 805-61; the cornices are decorated with a row of simple dentils and framed by long end
brackets.

After 1875 builders began to improve the northernmost section of the block, that bordering the south
side of Carroll Street, just east of Scott. Here, at 787-97 Carroll, stood a group of six two-story-and-attic
houses, built in 1859. The rest of Carroll Street is filled with two-story, two-bay-wide (12°) Italianate houses
with simple modillion cornices. The houses at 763-85, whose doorways have unusual wooden enframements
with slightly arched tops, were built in 1876 by John Codling; the next group, at 745-61, did not go up until
1878. These were built by William H. Pitcher who built out most of the rest of the block. Pitcher owned a
brickyard south of Carroll Park with a partner, Young Owens Wilson. In 1879 Pitcher built three-story, two-
bay-wide (12”) houses at 603-11 Scott Street, south of Carroll, and a year later built eleven two-story versions
on the north side of Woodward, east of Scott, at 826-46. Both groups have simple modillion cornices. Pitcher
also built the houses on the west side of Barre Street, north of Woodward (835-43) in 1880, a row of three-
story, two-bay-wide houses with scroll-sawn modillion cornices. The rest of the houses on the north side of
Woodward, at 802-24, were built in 1882 by Michael Z. Hammer. They are 11°9” wide and have late Italianate
style cornices with long brackets and jig-sawn friezes.

The remainder of the houses on these two blocks were built later. Several different builders were at
work on the north side of Mangold Street, all building two-story, two-bay-wide houses. Just east of Scott, 838-
52 were built after 1906 and have simple sheet metal cornices; 834-36 is a pair of earlier houses, with a scroll-
sawn modillion cornice and a plain frieze; 830-32 is a similar pair. 818-24 and 810-16 are groups of four late
Italianate style houses; and 802-8, just west of Sterrett, are four houses with sheet metal and stepped brick
cornices, built in the 1890s. On the south side of Mangold, 801-11, west of Sterrett, have late Italianate style
cornices; 819-21 and 825-27 are pairs of late Italianate style houses; and 831, 835, and 839 are individual
Italianate houses.

On Hamburg Street, east of the six three-story houses built in 1870, 770, 772, and 774 Hamburg are all
two-story, three-bay-wide late Italianate houses, but 772 is set back from the street and has a front yard. 762-68
is another group of three-story houses, three-bays-wide with a modillion cornice. The eastern portion of
Hamburg Street has only two-story Italianate houses—758-60 is a pair, 756 is set back, 754 is a single house,
750-2 is a pair, and 748, at the corner of Sterrett, is a single house. East of Sterrett, 738-46 Hamburg Street is a
row of two-story, two-bay-wide Italianate houses that have been restored, and 809-23 Barre Street is a group of
two-story, two-bay-wide houses with scroll-sawn modillion cornices built in the early 1870s.
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The Enoch Pratt Free Library built a branch on the southwest corner of Barre and Carroll Street in the
early 1900s. The two-story Renaissance Revival style brown brick building has a projecting central bay whose
pedimented roofline projects above the gable roof of the building. The triangular pediment is decorated with a
row of brick dentils, which frame a center oculus. The central entrance is marked by a huge projecting round-
arched pediment with center keystone, supported by engaged columns on either side of the entrance doors.
Banks of triple windows light the reading room. The motifs of the central bay are repeated on the Carroll Street
fagade. The building then extends back on Carroll Street, the fagade decorated by a row of rectangular windows
matching those of the front fagade in size.

Block 859

This small block lies south of Carroll Street, running east of Barre to Paca Street. The houses on the
south side of Carroll Street, east of Barre, at 713-37, are all two-story, two-bay-wide houses with simple sheet
metal cornices, built in the 1890s. East of Sterrett Alley, all of the houses are new. At 810-18 Barre Street
there is a group of two-story, two-bay-wide Italianate-style houses with scroll-sawn modillion cornices.

Block 921

This tiny triangular block contains a row of three-story, two-bay-wide houses built at 1000-16 Scott
Street, just north of Cross. The houses, with their simple scroll-sawn modillion cornices, closely resemble the
other three story houses built in the 600 and 700 blocks of Scott Street. (Houses on the west side of the 800
block have been replaced with a modern elementary school.)

Block 922

This block extends east from Scott Street to Paca, between Hamburg and Cross, and is bisected by
Sterrett Alley. It is the site of the St. Jerome’s Roman Catholic Church complex, with the church located on the
southeast corner of Scott and Hamburg and the school and other parish buildings on the south side of Hamburg,
east of Scott.

The only housing in this block is on the west side of Paca, the north side of Cross Street, and the east
side of Sterrett Alley, along with three houses on the south side of Hamburg Street. The upper portion of Paca
Street is improved with group of four two-story, two-bay-wide Italianate-style houses with simple, scroll-sawn
modillion cornices, at 1002-8, and a row of four similar three-story houses, at 1010-16. At the corner of



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places PigtownNHistoricf I;istrictn (B-1394)
Continuation Sheet ameof FIopery

Baltimore, Maryland
Section _7 Page 18 County and State

Hamburg, 1000 Paca Street is a separate two-story, two-bay-wide building that originally served as a corner
store.

Cross Street, east of Scott, is improved with a long row of two-story, three-bay-wide late Italianate-style
houses, at 768-98. Along Sterrett Alley, 1103-11 is a row of two-story, two-bay-wide houses with simple brick
dentil cornices; 1013-17 are Italianate-style houses whose simple cornices have scroll-sawn end brackets. Just
east of this row there are three two-story, two-bay-wide houses at 751-55 Hamburg Street, only one of which
retains its original sheet metal cornice.

The former Bergner’s Novelty Company, a large brown brick, neoclassical-style three-story industrial
building with light stone trim, occupies the northeast corner of South Paca and West Cross Street. It was built
in 1900 for Fred Bergner, who manufactured men’s celluloid shirt collars and cuffs here; after 1926 the building
housed a paper box manufacturer. Both the Paca and Cross Street facades are decorative, nine bays wide, and
have central, slightly projecting pavilions capped by low-pitched triangular pediments. Neoclassical details
include a “rusticated” basement story and quoins at each corner of the building and framing the central pavilion.
The cornice is made up of a light stone crown molding set above a row of brick dentils. The frieze area beneath
is framed with light stone bands that create a panel effect; a star set within a circle marks the center of the
pediment. There is also a light stone belt course and two bands of light stone trim at the base of the structure.
Paired rectangular windows mark each bay at the second and third floor levels. Both the Cross Street and Paca
Street sections of the building are two bays deep; another two-bay-wide wing extends back from the northern
portion of the Paca Street fagade.

Block 938/953

This triangular-shaped block extends along the east side of Scott Street, south of Cross, to Stockholm
Street, and then east to Paca. The east side of Scott Street is filled with two very long rows of housing, both
built in the 1890s. The first, at 1101-51, is a group of two-story, two-bay-wide neoclassical style houses;
adjoining to the south, at 1201-29, is a group of three-story, two-bay-wide houses with bracketed sheet metal
cornices.

East of the church, on the south side of Cross Street, 767-81 is a row of two-story, two-bay-wide houses
with sheet metal cornices; 765 is a single two-story, three-bay-wide house with no cornice remaining. Four
similar two-bay-wide houses with sheet metal cornices were built at 755-61 Cross, just east of Sterrett Alley.
745-53 are late Italianate-style houses, built in the late 1880s. A pair of three-story Italianate houses, at 741-43,
is located at the corner of Paca.

Both sides of Sterrett Alley are filled with two-story, two-bay-wide houses in this block. 1101-19 are
late Italianate-style, with jig-sawn friezes; 1104-26 are later, with simple stepped-brick cornices. Late
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Italianate-style two-story houses also line the west side of Paca Street, at 1102-22 but, facing a main street, they
are three bays wide.

Block 820

This triangular-shaped block is bounded by the west side of Scott Street, the northeast side of
Stockholm, and the southeast side of Wicomico. The 1100 block of Scott Street is filled with a long row of
two-story, two-bay-wide (12°), late Italianate-style houses, at 1108-58, built in 1887 by William E.Banks. A
long row of houses also once extended along the north side of Ostend Street, but only four houses remain, at
802-8. These are two-story, two-bay wide early Italianate houses with simple brick dentil cornices, much like
those built in 1855 on the north side of Ramsay Street. The southeast side of Wicomico Street, at 1121-43, is
filled with a row of two-story, two-bay-wide late Italianate-style houses with jig-sawn friezes that have the
slightly projecting brick door and window lintels, with brick keystones seen in several other rows in the area.

Block 811

This block, located southwest of Cross Street, north of Wicomico, contains an important group of three-
story, two-bay-wide (most are 12°3” wide, with the corner houses wider) late Italianate-style houses built along
the southwest side of Cross Street, west of Scott and Wicomico, in 1879. The houses, at 801-19 and 821-39
Cross, were built by important Baltimore builder Joseph M. Cone and his partner at the time, William Bruns.
Cone and Bruns also built an identical row of ten houses in the next block of Cross Street, north of Hamburg, at
the same time. Joseph Cone was already a major Baltimore building developer, at work in the Harlem Park
neighborhood many blocks to the north. Cone was one of the first rowhouse builders to introduce elements of
the then-popular Queen Anne style to his fagade decorations. In this group of houses the doorways are framed
by projecting brick piers, which support a low-pitched triangular pediment. Each pier is articulated with an
upper and lower recessed groove. Fashionable first floor paired windows alternate with wider windows with
round-arched transoms. The cornices are late Italianate in style, with three long brackets framing a jig-sawn
frieze panel.

The east side of Hamburg Street, north of Stockholm, is built up with a long row of thirty-seven two-
story, three-bay-wide (127) late Italianate houses that extend from 1101-1173 Hamburg. They were built in
1884-85 by William and Charles Woods and have a distinctive bull’s-eye decorated frieze panel, seen on other
houses in the neighborhood and quite popular at this time.

Running almost the entire length of Wicomico Street in this block is the multi-story, red brick Raleigh
Industrial Center, a non-contributing resource.
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Block 801

This block runs southwest of Cross Street between Hamburg and Nanticoke Streets and was developed
between 1879 and 1884. The south side of Cross Street in this block contains a group of ten three-story houses
built by Cone and Bruns in 1879, at 1001-19 Cross, that are identical to those described above. North of Dexter
Street, Lewis Robinson finished out this block of Cross Street with a row of ten two-story, two-bay-wide (12°)
late Italianate houses built at 1021-39 Cross in 1883. This row has no decorative brickwork decoration.
Robinson also built thirty-three similar houses at 1101-65 Nanticoke the same year.

In 1884 James H. Cranwell built out the northwest side of Hamburg Street, at 1100-72, with a two-story,
two-bay-wide (11°117) row of late Italianate houses with Queen-Anne style-brickwork decoration, in the form
of a belt course made of rows of angled bricks. The houses have short mansard roofs supported by small
wooden brackets, two dormer windows per house, and paired first floor windows.

Block 791

Continuing west along Cross Street, this block runs between Nanticoke and Carroll streets. Originally a
German church occupied the northwest corner of Cross and Nanticoke Streets, at 1103 Cross, but it has been
replaced by a 1930s or 1940s-era small commercial building, which is not a contributing structure. The former
Cross Street M.E. Church stands at the other end of the block, at the southwest corner of Cross and Cleveland
Streets. Now called the Southern Friendship Baptist Church, the simple one-story structure has its gable-end
and entrance facing Cross Street and runs back along Cleveland three bays. A pair of tall, pointed- arch
windows flank a central doorway, itself framed by a tall, pointed arch, set beneath a large oculus filled with
stained glass. The small building has been covered with formstone. Between the two churches, there is a row
of five two-story, two-bay-wide houses, built in the early 1890s, that have bracketed sheet metal cornices and
paired first floor windows.

Around the corner, on the east side of Cleveland Street, at 1117-51, there is a long row of highly unusual
two-story rowhouses with short mansard roofs and dormer windows, just like the row built by James H.
Cranwell in 1884 at 1100-72 Hamburg Street. Each house is two bays wide, with a paired first floor window.
At the south end of the street, 1153-87 Cleveland is a row of two-story, two-bay-wide houses with simple,
neoclassical style sheet metal cornices, built in the early 1890s. Two different groups of two-story late
Italianate-style houses line the west side of Cleveland Street. The group to the north, at 1118-58 are three bays
wide; those to the south, at 1160-84 are two bays wide, with paired first floor windows.

North of Cleveland, 1131-55 Cross Street is a row of two-story, three-bay-wide, late Italianate style
houses with molded brick belt courses and a molded brick keystone in the segmentally arched door and window
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lintels. The house at each corner is three stories tall, with a first floor storefront. The houses were built by
William and Wilbur Stubbs in 1885-86.

Block 780

This next block east, between Washington Boulevard and Carroll Street, south of Cross, is built up with
rows of houses on Washington Boulevard, Cross, Ward, Ostend and Carroll Streets. The earliest houses were
built in 1869 and 1870 in the western half of the block; the eastern section was completed by 1888. Samuel
Black and Thomas Willis, both of whom earlier erected rows north of Pratt Street, were responsible for most of
the houses put up on the southeast side of Washington Boulevard. Black built 1101-49 Washington Boulevard
in 1869, a row of two-story, two-bay-wide (12’ and 11°8”) Italianate houses; to the south, Willis built similar
houses at 1151-73 Washington Boulevard in 1870. The first group of Black’s houses, at 1101-11, have been
replaced by a modern, non-contributing health care facililty.

In 1886 the Stubbs brothers continued building rows of two-story, three-bay-wide (12°) late Italianate-
style houses in this block, at 1201-25 and 1229-53 Cross Street, on land leased to them by the Trustees of the
Sheppard Asylum, who had also owned part of the block northeast of Cross Street.

1102-72 Carroll Street is a long row of two-story, two-bay-wide late Italianate-style houses, that extends
all the way south to Ostend Street. Ward Street, the slightly narrower mid-block street is built up with a very
long row of two-story, two-bay-wide late Italianate-style houses, with projecting brick doorway hoods, on its
east side, at 1101-59. The west side contains two remaining groups of houses, a short row of only three two-
story, two-bay-wide Italianate-style houses at 1136-40, and a group of later swell-front houses at 1148-58. This
latter row is probably unique in Baltimore, for the swelled portion of the fagade is only on the first floor.

The two-story, two-bay-wide Italianate-style houses at 1224-34 Ostend Street were built in 1885; those
at 1214-22 by George Parks in 1888.

Block 769

This block lies north of Washington Boulevard between Cross and Ostend Streets. Long rows were
built facing Washington Boulevard and Sargeant Street between 1884 and 1886. There are no houses on James
Street. The block was developed by Joseph L. Bowen, who named what would later be called Sargeant Street,
Bowen Street.

Bowen built two-story, two-bay-wide (12”), late Italianate-style houses with jig-sawn friezes at 1100-84
Washington Boulevard; five two-story, three-bay-wide late Italianate-style houses at 1301-9 Cross Street (1309
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is gone); and a long row of two-story, three-bay-wide late Italianate style houses, whose cornices have jig-sawn
friezes decorated with bull’s-eyes, at 1104-54 Sargeant Street. These houses also have projecting brick
window lintels, with keystones, on the first floor openings. Across the street 1101-41 Sargeant Street are three-
bay-wide houses with late Italianate-style cornices with jig-sawn frieze panels, projecting decorative brick door
hoods, and belt courses made of angled/cut bricks. At the southwest corner of Cross and Sargeant Streets there
is a separate two-story, three-bay-wide house with a broken-pedimented roofline, at 1102 Sargeant Street. Like
some of the rows two blocks south, this building has patterned terra cotta tiles decorating its fagade.

In 1886 builder Charles E. Dietz erected a very unusual row of two-story, two-bay wide houses on lower
end of the west side of Sargeant Street, at 1156-82. All of the houses have porch-fronts. The first and last five
houses of the fifteen-house group have their gable ends facing the street, giving the row a kind of Tudor look.
The central five units have steeply pitched gable roofs with colonial-style dormers. Beneath the roofline there is
a deep, bracketed cornice. The porch-fronts seem to have originally had narrow spindle balusters, in keeping
with the attempted “colonial” look of the houses. Dietz also built the much plainer row of seventeen two-story,
two-bay-wide (11°7”) houses across the street, at 1143-75 Sargeant, where the late Italianate-style cornices have
jigs-sawn friezes with bull’s-eye decorations. Here the first floor windows are paired.

Block 759

This block extends southwest of Ostend Street between James and Herkimer, and was improved
between 1895 and 1906.

The east side of Glyndon Street is built up with two-story, three-bay-wide houses. Those at 1201-21
have simple sheet metal cornices; those at 1223-39 have stepped brick cornices, brick door hoods and a belt
course made of angled bricks. At the southern end of the block, the row at 1245-61, has Queen-Anne-influenced
decorative brickwork—a molded brick belt course, projecting molded brick doorway hoods, and a slightly
projecting, molded brick band set atop the segmentally arched window lintels. The houses have sheet metal
cornices. The west side of Glyndon is built up with one long row of two-story, two-bay-wide houses, at 1200-
76. They have simple sheet metal cornices and slightly wider first floor windows. 1401-21 Ostend Street is a
group of three-bay-wide houses with simple sheet metal cornices, much like the row around the corner at 1200-
24 James.

1200-24 James Street is a row of two-story houses that are a mix of two and three bays wide. They have
simple sheet metal cornices. 1236 is a single three-bay-wide house built of brown brick that has the same belt
course made up of terra cotta squares, as the houses in the block to the southwest. 1238-56 James Street have a
belt course made of angled bricks and a stepped brick cornice, much like the houses at 1223-39 Glyndon. The
eight houses at the lower end of the block, near Carey Street, are earlier. They also are three bays wide, but
have a late Italianate-style cornice with jig-sawn frieze, and projecting brick door hoods.
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Block 768

This block, east of James and south of Stockholm, was built up with two-story houses between 1884 and
1900. The first lots improved were twenty-two on the north side of Washington Boulevard, at 1224-76, five on
S. Carey Street, at 1121-29, and twenty-three of the south side of Sargeant Street, at 1231-75. Here Michael Z.
Hammer built two-bay-wide (12” on Washington Boulevard and Carey, 11°8” on Sargeant) late Italianate-style
houses in 1884. The western portion of the block remained empty until 1894, when Robert Carswell built a
long row of two-story, three-bay-wide (14”) houses with sheet metal cornices at 1231-69 James Street, as well
as the group of ten similar houses at 1101-19 S. Carey Street.

In 1898 Frank Melville built out the remainder of the eastern half of the block by putting up two-story,
two-bay-wide houses at 1200-22 Washington Boulevard, 1301-09 Ostend Street, and 1201-11 Sargeant Street.
August Weber built fifteen two-story, two-bay-wide (12’) neoclassical-style houses at 1201-29 James Street in
1900 as well as fifteen similar houses at 1200-28 Sargeant Street.

1230-72 Sargeant, built in the mid-1880s, are two-story, two-bay-wide houses with brickwork
decoration, in the form of a molded brick belt course and a molded brick projecting band, with keystone, set
above the segmental arches of the door and window openings. The cornice is framed by end brackets and has a
jig-sawn frieze.

Block 779

This block, bordering on the southeast side of Washington Boulevard, southwest of Ostend Street, was
not built up until 1899-1900. Frank Melville built the twelve two-story, two-bay-wide (12°3”") neoclassical-
style houses at 1201-23 Washington Boulevard, northeast of the URE facility, in 1899. He continued building
around the corner, at 1211-23 Ostend Street, in 1901.

The main building of the United Railways and Electric Company occupied the center of the western half
of the block, facing Washington Boulevard until about 1909. In that year, after the URE had moved to its
present site south of Bush Street, JacobWheatfield built fourteen two-story, three-bay-wide (14”) neoclassical-
style houses with sheet metal cornices on the site, at 1225-51 Washington Boulevard, as well as fourteen more
12°9¢-wide houses on the northwest side of Ward Street. The latter row has been torn down.

Three local builders filled the eastern half of the block between 1899 and 1908. Charles Herbold built
two-story, two-bay-wide houses with simple sheet metal cornices and stained glass door transoms at 1200-16
Carroll Street, just south of Ostend, in 1905-6, and five more houses at 1201-9 Ostend, a few years later. John
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Collimore (or Cullimore), working with Joseph Henck, put up twenty-two two-story, three-bay-wide swell-front
houses (13”) at 1218-60 Carroll Street in 1899.

Building partners Benjamin Bennett and George F. Beavin built an unusual row of ten two-story, three-
bay-wide (14°, with 16’ ends), brown brick, porch-front houses, with sheet metal cornices decorated with
classical swags in 1908 at 1215-33 S. Carey Street, north of Carroll. The segmentally arched brick lintels are
capped by a row of projecting header bricks and have a terra-cotta keystone. The wider end houses have flat
fronts and a second-story bay window. The next year they completed an identical row on the other side of
Carey Street (block 778).

Block 790

East of Carroll Street and south of Ostend, this block runs east to Nanticoke Street and south to Carey.
The building partnership of Joseph Henck and John Collimore first erected a long row of two-story, three-bay-
wide (13) swell-front houses at 1219-69 Carroll Street in 1899, then built similar houses at 1301-29 South
Carey Street in 1900.

In 1907 Charles Herbold built a row of seven two-story, two-bay-wide (14”) flat-fronted houses at
1221-33 Carroll Street, and five more around the corner, at 1123-31 Ostend Street. The houses have sheet
metal cornices decorated with classical swags and round-arched first floor windows. Southeast of Cleveland,
Herbold built two groups of houses in 1909; 1111-21 Ostend have sheet metal cornices decorated with swags,
but paired first floor windows. The next group south, 1101-9 Ostend, just north of Nanticoke Street, has a later
style of sheet metal cornice, with end brackets topped by balls finials that project above the roofline.

In 1909 Benjamin Bennett and George Beavin began building neo-classical style brown brick houses on
the northwest side of Cleveland Street. The row contains twenty 13’8”-wide houses, with a 14’-wide house on
either end. 1200-04 Cleveland Street are two-story, two-bay-wide flat-fronted brown brick houses with sheet
metal cornices and marble steps. 1206-08 have front porches, but are set back from the first three houses.
1210-12 are a pair of bay-window, porch-front houses; 1214-16 have flat fronts, 1216-18 have bay windows
and porch fronts, etc. The sheet metal cornices of the flat-fronted houses are decorated with classical swags, as
are the upper panels of the second-floor bay windows on those units. The segmentally arched brick lintels are
capped by a row of projecting header bricks and have a terra-cotta keystone. The house at the south end of the
row, at 1246 Cleveland, also projects forward from the main row.

In 1910 they built similar houses on the southeast side of Cleveland Street, but with a different pattern of
flat and bay-window, porch-front houses. 1201-3 are flat-fronted houses, 1205 has a front porch, then 1207-17
are bay-window, porch-front houses, and 1219 has a flat front. The center of the row, 1221-23, is marked by a
pair of houses with a two-story, slightly projecting bay; 1225 has a flat front; there is another group of bay-
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window, porch-front houses; and the row ends with a flat-fronted house that projects forward from the row.
They completed their building operations in this block in 1911, with a row of fourteen two-story, bay-window,
porch-front houses on the north side of Carey Street, southeast of Cleveland at 1401-21; each end house of the
row is three stories tall, with a flat front. In 1912 Bennett and Beavin built an identical row of bay-window,
porch-fronts on the southwest side of Carey Street, in block 789.

Block 799

This block, once part of a four-block track owned first by the Chesapeake Gas Company, which later
became Consolidated Gas Company, still retains the original retort house of the gas company, built in 1885-86,
facing Bayard Street, between Nanticoke and Hamburg Streets. The monumental, Renaissance-Revival-style
structure is highly decorative and stands as an example of the kind of stylistic care both architects and
commercial companies gave to their buildings in this late Victorian era. The brick building is two stories tall
and nine bays wide, with a central portion and two wings. The central five-bay-wide section has a projecting
entryway flanked by bays defined by recessed arches and capped with triangular pediments. The whole sits on
a high stone basement. The one-story entrance feature projects deeply enough so that long flights of stone
steps can be placed parallel to the fagade, which lead, though arched openings on either side to an entry porch.
Wide brick arches with decorative moldings spring from brick piers on each of the three faces of the porch. On
the main fagade, a heavy stone modillion cornice extends across the wings and frames the two triangular
pediments. Ocular windows decorate the center of each pediment. While the pedimented bays are marked by a
pair of arched windows supported by brick piers, the wings have rectangular windows, also framed by brick
piers. These windows have stepped brick decorations above the lintels. All of the sills are stone. A wide and
tall monitor rises above the central section of the building. It has a hipped roof supported by brick piers that
frame a bank of six windows.

Block 789

Bounded by Carey, Nanticoke, Bayard, and Carroll Streets, the first houses in this block went up in
1884-85, built by George Moke. He improved both the southeast side of Carroll Street, at 1331-61, and the
northwest side of Cleveland Street, at 1330-60, with long rows of sixteen houses each. The two-story, two-bay-
wide houses have very simple, deep Italianate cornices, with small block modillions and a row of dentils
supporting the crown molding, and a deep, plain frieze area. Moke also built a shorter row of two-story, two-
bay-wide (12°) late Italianate style houses facing Bayard Street, at 1301-25. These, however, have jig-sawn
friezes with distinctive bull’s-eye moldings.

The row of two-story, three bay-wide (13”), swell-front houses facing S. Carey Street, northwest of
Cleveland, at 1300-22, were built in1900 by Joseph Henck and John Collimore, at the same time they put up the
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identical row across Carey Street, in block 790.  The two-story, bay-window, 14’-wide porch-front houses at
1400-10 S. Carey Street, south of Cleveland, were built in 1912 by Bennett and Beavin, at the same time they
put up a row of similar houses just across Carey Street, in block 790. The southwest corner of Carey and
Nanticoke Streets is now occupied by a modern, non-contributing building.

Block 778

This block is located northwest of Carroll Street, between Carey and Bayard, and fronts on Washington
Boulevard. The eastern half of the block was developed first, in 1884, by James Miller and Charles R. Coleman
who put up rows of two-story, two-bay-wide (12”) late Italianate-style houses with jig-sawn friezes decorated
with bull’s-eye moldings at 1334-58 Carroll and 1331-61 Ward Street. 1219-39 Bayard Street, also built by
Miller and Coleman in 1884, have even fancier cornices.

The southwest side of Carey Street, south of Ward, is a row of two-story, brown brick porch-front
houses with sheet metal cornices, identical to the row just across the street in block 779. This row, at 1214-34
S. Carey, was built by Bennett and Beavin in 1909. The houses have three windows on the first floor and two
above. The segmentally arched brick lintels are capped by a row of projecting header bricks and have a terra-
cotta keystone. The end units project from the row, do not have porches, but do have a second-floor bay
window.

Just south of Carey, 1301 Washington Boulevard is a single two-story, two-bay-wide late Italianate
house. The Wayman A.M.E. brick chapel and stone church occupy the upper third of the block, facing
Washington Boulevard. The entire lower end, the site of lumber yards at the turn of the twentieth century, is
now the site of the modern Charles Carroll Barrister Elementary School #34, which runs the entire width of the
block between Washington Boulevard and Ward Street.

Block 767

Extending west from Washington Boulevard, this block between Carey and Bayard runs west to James
Street. All of the block faces are filled with long rows of housing. The eastern half of the block was developed
between 1893 and 1900; the western section between 1894 and 1906.

The former Public School #34, built in 1895, occupies the northwest corner of S. Carey Street and
Washington Boulevard. The two-story, four-bay-wide and thirteen-bay-deep building is now the Barrister
Court Apartments. The school is built in a Classical Revival style, of red brick with white trim made of sheet
metal. The slightly projecting, four-bay-wide entrance pavilion faces Washington Boulevard, capped by a
triangular pediment framed on all sides by a deep sheet metal cornice decorated with different bands of
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neoclassical motifs. This same cornice extends around the sides of the building and frames the two similar
triangular pediments marking the S. Carey Street fagade. The wide entrance door has a flat classical pediment
and a stained glass transom. Tall, wide stone steps lead to the entrance. The building sits on a high basement,
lit by large square windows along the Carey Street fagade.

The first houses to go up on the block were built in 1893 by William Clendenin, a well-known
Baltimore builder, at 1332-38 Washington Boulevard. These are two-story, three-bay-wide flat-fronted houses;
the sheet metal cornices have four long brackets per house. A few years later John and Charles Gensler built
five two-story, three-bay-wide (15°) houses at 1322-30 Washington Street that are an unusual mix of two flat-
fronted houses (1322-24), a square-bay house at 1326, another flat-fronted unit at 1328, and a swell-fronted
house at 1330. All have simple neoclassical-style sheet metal cornices. The Genslers also built six similar two-
bay-wide (12°) houses at 1307-17 Sargeant Street. Then, in 1899-1900, John F. Carter completed the row on
Washington Boulevard with a group of seventeen two-story, three-bay-wide (14”) swell-fronted houses at 1340-
70 and a three-story, three-bay-wide storefront at 1372. The houses all have stone belt courses running across
the facades at the first and second-floor window levels.

The rest of this southeastern section of the block was completed in 1899-1900 when Joseph Green put
up fourteen two-bay-wide (12’) neo-classical-style houses with sheet metal cornices and round-arched first floor
windows at 1327-53 Sargeant and five more (without the round-arched window) at 1121-29 Bayard, southeast
of Sargeant.

Several different builders worked on the western half of this block. Between 1894 and 1896 Malachi
Parks built five two-story, three-bay-wide (14’) houses with simple sheet metal cornices at 1100-08 S. Carey
Street and twelve more at 1300-22 Sargeant Street. John Delcher built more stylish houses in 1895-96—swell-
fronted three-bay-wide (14°) houses, with neoclassical-style sheet metal cornices, at 1110-18 Carey (1118
Carey has a flat front with a first floor corner store) and 1301-11 James, as well as a very unusual group of six
three-bay-wide houses at 1313-23 James, built in 1896, that have projecting first floor squared bays topped with
open porches

The lower portion of the western half of the block has two-story, neoclassical style houses with sheet
metal cornices built between 1905 and 1907. First to go up was the row at 1101-9 Bayard, built by Charles
Deneke in 1905. The building partnership of Joseph Hirt and August Weber put up the rest of the houses—a
group of five three-bay-wide houses at 1111-19 Bayard; fifteen more at 1325-49 James; and fifteen more at
1324-52 Sargeant Street. The sheet metal cornices have three long brackets, resembling earlier Italianate styles.
Block 758

This block, running between Herkimer and James, south of Carey, is on the westernmost edge of the
Historic District. It also contains some of the latest housing built in the area. The half block west of Glyndon
Street was built up with typical Baltimore “marble houses” between 1911 and 1913 by Joseph Hirt and August
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Weber, a well-known team of Baltimore builders in these years. This is the style of house that filled block after
block of East Baltimore north of Patterson Park, in the early years of the twentieth century, before World War I.
Usually builders of marble houses used different amounts of marble to decorate the facades depending on
whether the row faced a main or secondary street. In this block the same pattern is followed. The houses facing
Carey Street, at 900-18, have marble stringers, window lintels and sills, and marble steps. Those on the west
side of Glyndon, at 1300-48, have marble stringers and sills, and marble-faced basements and steps. Those
facing Bayard, at 901-19 have marble stringers, sills, and steps; but houses on the east side of Herkimer, at
1301-49, only have marble steps. The houses have sheet metal cornices with three long brackets each; the first
floor windows are wide and have transoms.

The houses on the east half of the block are earlier and several rows are quite distinctive. The row on
the northern part of the southeast side of Glyndon Street, at 1301-25, was built in 1895-96 by Robert Carswell.
The thirteen two-story, 14’-wide houses are extremely stylish and have elaborate terra cotta decorations, as well
as sheet metal cornices decorated with a row of dentils. The first group, at 1301-11, have flat fronts and paired
first floor windows. Door and window lintels have molded brick keystones and “ears.” The decorative brick
belt course is made up of a row of variously decorated, molded brick tiles. Each sheet metal cornice is framed
by end brackets decorated with rosettes. To the south, at 1313-25, the three-bay-wide houses have squared bays
with two windows on each floor of the bay. These houses have similar terra cotta belt courses but the door and
window lintels are different from the houses to the north. Here the segmental arch capping the first floor
openings has a large keystone, which matches the marble window sill.

Carswell built nine very similar two-story, three-bay-wide houses at 1300-16 James Street, south of
Carey, in these same years. The first five, at 1300-08 James have flat fronts, 1310-16 have squared bays; the
neoclassical-style sheet metal cornice is decorated with a row of small modillions. The next group of houses to
the south, 1318-32 James Street, were built in 1903 by Richard Burdette. Here, flat-fronted, two-and-three-bay-
wide houses alternate. There is a plain sheet metal cove cornice. Each doorway has a stained glass transom and
the steps are marble. Richard Burdette also built the ten houses on the northeast side of Bayard Street, at 1001-
19, in 1903. These are plain two-story, three-bay-wide (14’) houses with sheet metal cornices.

A large carpet factory building once ran between James and Glyndon Streets, northeast of the houses
facing Bayard. Today, this site is occupied by a modern church, The Power House, at 1352 James Street, which
1s a non-contributing resource.

Rows on the lower end of the block were built by Robert Carswell, between 1906 and 1908 and show
even more elaborate decoration. Carswell first built nine houses at 1334-50 James Street in 1906, followed by
twelve more at 1327-49 Glyndon Street, in 1908. The two-story, two-bay-wide (13’4”) rows are built of brown,
Roman brick and terra cotta medallions ornament many parts of the fagade. In an unusual design, each
doorway is recessed behind an arched entryway cut into the fagade. The paired first floor windows and those of
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the second floor have segmental arches composed of a double row of header bricks, (the top row projecting
slightly), centered on a very large keystone. On the James Street houses, Carswell used a belt course is made up
of a row of large decorative terra cotta tiles, but on Glyndon Street he marked the mid-point of each fagade with
only two terra cotta ornaments, one set above the door, the other over the window. Pairs of similar terra cotta
ornaments are placed one above the other, between each window on all of the houses. The sheet metal cornice
is supported by end brackets and is decorated with a row of dentils. Carswell sold the houses he built in 1908 to
Lithuanian families, who obtained mortgages from the First Lithuanian Building Association.

Block 777

This block runs southwest of Bayard Street to Bush, and southeast of Washington Boulevard to Carroll
Street. Washington Boulevard is built up with a very long row of two-story, two-bay-wide (12°) houses that run
from 1401 to 1461 and face Carroll Park. Built in 1888 by Celsius H. Saffell (or Soffell), the houses have
typical Queen Anne-style decorative brick door hoods; first floor windows have segmentally arched lintels
made up of a double row of header bricks, with the upper row alternately projecting to create a decorative
effect. The late Italianate-style cornices have jig-sawn friezes. Saffell also built the long row of twenty-four
similar houses on the northwest side of Ward Street, at 1402-48, in 1888. Here the cornices are supported by
three long brackets and decorated with a row of scroll-sawn modillions.

The long row of two-story, two-bay-wide (12°) late Italianate-style houses at 1402-44 Carroll Street,
built by Albert Horner in 1886-87, have cornices supported by three long brackets; between each there is a jig-
sawn frieze decorated with a bull’s-eye. One set of original 4/4 window sash survives. The same builder seems
to have been responsible for the row at 1218-36 Bayard Street, whose cornices also have three long brackets
framing frieze panels marked by bull’s-eyes, as well as the similar houses at 1407-27 Ward Street. The houses
at 1202-12 Bayard, northwest of Ward, also built in the late 1880s, have an elaborate stepped-brick cornice, but
also have projecting brick door hoods like the row facing Washington Boulevard.

An interesting two-story brick industrial building with stylish details occupies the northeast corner of
Bush and Ward Streets. It is one-bay-wide, facing Bush Street, and runs back along Ward ten bays deep. Each
bay is framed by brick piers and the square windows have wide stone lintels. The entrance fagade on Bush
Street is set beneath the end gable of the building, which has been given a stepped brick cornice. The first floor
has a wide opening in the center of the fagade, topped by a tall, original wooden double door with arched top.
Long iron strap hinges open both the upper and lower portions of the door, to load or unload stored goods. The
long side facades, facing both Ward Street and Washington Boulevard, are marked by a central, two-bay-wide
cross-gabled section, with a tall window in the peak of the end gable.

A firehouse built in 1923 occupies the northwest corner of Bush and Carroll Streets. It is a two-story
structure built in a kind of classical revival style with Art Deco-influenced decorative motifs. The building has
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a tiled, low-pitched gable roof with parapets on either side. Two plain end bays, marked with simple stone
bands near the top, extend to the roofline and frame a decorative central portion where the fire-truck entrance
doors are located. The entire central portion has much decorative stonework. At the entry level, between the
wide openings with their stone lintels, there is a commemorative plaque honoring Mayor Broening, the
architect, William F. Stone, Jr., and builder, and the leading members of the Baltimore Fire Department. The
actual garage doors are recessed behind the fagade. The upper level of the fagade is marked by a band of
windows. Beneath, stone panels and cartouches lend a neo-classical feel to the building, but above the
windows, the decorative stonework consists of a row of Art Deco-style grooves and stylized cartouches.

A non-contributing metal building occupies the northeast corner of Bush and Ward Streets. It houses the sheet
metal fabricating firm of Metacord, Inc.
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List of Non-Contributing Properties

1.

4.

908-12 Washington Boulevard, a modern one-story church building, the Holy Nation Tabernacle
Church.

846-56 Washington Boulevard, Washington Village branch of the Enoch Pratt Free Library.
514-18 and 511-17 Wyeth Street, new two-story housing

806-14 and 824-36 Carroll Street, new two-story housing

5. 800 Scott Street, NW corner Scott and Hamburg, George Washington Elementary School

6. The R. C. Lucas Binders building, at 1147 Wicomico Street, northeast corner of Wicomico and Ostend
Streets, is a two-story, fourteen-bay-wide, eighteen-bay-deep modern building.

Z

8.

10.

11.

13.

14.

15;

1150 Ostend Street, Raleigh Industrial Center, an eight-story modern brick building.

1101-5 Cross Street, a vacant and abandoned one-story commercial building, SW corner Cross and
Nanticoke (site of former German Church)

1104 Ward Street, a modern commercial building
1116 Ward Street, a modern commercial building

1111 Washington Boulevard, just south of Cross Street, is a new brick health care facility, the Open
Gates Health Center.

1412 S. Carey Street, a one-story concrete block warehouse on the southwest corner of Carey and
Nanticoke Streets.

The Burch Company, 1303 Carroll Street, a two-story, modern brick building.

1300 Carroll Street, just south of Carey, a one-story warehouse building with individual storage bays,
owned now by Stevenson & Co., machinists.

Charles Carroll Barrister Elementary School #34, which runs the entire width of the block between
Washington Boulevard and Ward Street, north of Bayard.
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14. The Power House, a modern church building, at 1352 James Street, replaced an old carpet factory on
the site at the turn of the century.

15. Modern gas station, 1463 Washington Boulevard, southeast corner of Bush Street.

16. 1227 Bush Street, northeast corner of Ward and Bush Streets, a new metal one-story building owned by
Metacord, Inc., sheet metal fabricators.
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Summary Statement of Significance:

The Pigtown Historic District is significant under Criterion A for its association with the industrial
development of Baltimore in the 19" ane early 20" centuries. The development of the district is
intimately linked with hallmark events of the Industrial Revolution in Baltimore, particularly the growth
and development of the Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, the nation’s first railroad. Location of the B&O
Railroad on West Pratt Street in 1830 and the rapid growth of related industries around it, like
locomotive works and car-building shops, directly resulted in the growth of a nearby working-class
community. After 1870 the area became the home of the city’s major gas works—a technological
innovation that provided a new form of street lighting and then indoor lighting. The area also gains
significance from the fact that it was one of Baltimore’s major German settlements, particularly after the
1868 partnership between the B&O Railroad and the North-German Lloyd Steamship Company. The
district is also significant under Criterion C as an example of a type of working-class neighborhood
characteristic of the period 1830-1915 in Baltimore. It is one of the earliest examples in the city of a
mainly two-story working class neighborhood developed around a specific factory or industrial site.
Examples of every form of urban vernacular residential architecture built in Baltimore between 1830
and 1915 can be seen in the district.

Resource History and Historic Context:
Criterion A

The industrial history of the Pigtown area begins with the brickyards established late in the
eighteenth century on land belonging to the Mount Clare plantation owned by the Carroll family. Dr.
Charles Carroll of Annapolis acquired some 2,368 acres southwest of the fledgling settlement of
Baltimore Town in 1732 and soon put it to both agricultural and industrial use. Rich in natural
resources, the Mount Clare Plantation became one of the nation’s first agricultural and industrial
complexes, complete with a sawmill, brick kilns, and an iron furnace. In 1754 Dr. Carroll’s son, Charles
Carroll, Barrister (1723-83) inherited the Mount Clare estate and proceeded to turn his father’s modest
farmhouse on the property into a grand Palladian country seat.

After Carroll’s death, a number of brickmakers and brickmaking firms bought parcels of the
original estate and established brickyards and kilns. Several of these entrepreneurs, like George Warner,
James Berry, and Alexander Russell gave their names to streets later laid out near the location of their
brickyards, most of which were located on either side of the Washington Road, an area then known as
“Carroll’s Field.” The 1798 Federal Direct Tax List identifies fourteen brickmakers working in south
Baltimore, including three in Ridgely’s Addition, five on Sharp Street, two on Conway, one on Hanover
and the largest, Christopher Hughes, on Light Street.
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When Thomas Poppleton surveyed the city of Baltimore in 1816 and published his plan for its
future growth in 1823, only a few houses had been built along Washington Boulevard (then called
Columbia Street), west of Fremont Street. Much of the land south of Washington Boulevard and north
of Cross Street was held by three different church groups to be used as burying grounds. St. Peter’s
Catholic Church owned the block between Scott and Sterrett Street, south of St. Peter Street (now
Carroli Street); the German Reformed congregation owned the block to the west; and a German
Lutheran congregation owned the block between Parkin and Callendar, south of Washington Boulevard
and north of Cross. To the southeast there was a large Potter’s Field and African Burying Ground
occupying land between Cross and Stockholm: Streets, east of Sterrett to Ridgely

Dr. James McHenry, aide-de-camp to George Washington and the war hero for whom Fort
McHenry was named, lived on a large estate north of Pratt Street and west of Fremont and also owned
land facing the Middle Branch of the Patapsco, directly south of the intersection of Washington
Boulevard and Cross Street. James Carroll, the grandson of Charles Carroll, Barrister, now owned
Mount Clare and the vast acreage surrounding it.

When, in 1827, some of the leading business and professional men of Baltimore joined together
to found the nation’s first railroad company. they decided to break ground for the new road they were
building west on a piece of James Carroll’s property. Their surveyors and engineers had decided that
the most efficient way to build a road west was to follow the Gwynn’s Falls Valley to Relay and then
follow the rcute of the Patapsco River to Ellicott’s Mills and beyond. But they aiso had to connect with
Baltimore City and they dscided the best way to do that was east across Pratt Street, the street that led
directly to the harbor. Thus negotiations began with james Carroll to grant the company a right-of-way
through his land, to lay track between Pratt Street and the Gwynn’s Falls. The path choser iay along the
northern border of the Mount Clare estate. south of the cld road to Frederick and north of the road to
Washington. Once the roate had been settled upon, members of the Carroll and McHenry families sold
the railroad company parcels of land on the scuthwest corner of Pratt and Poppleton Streets and the real
history of southwest Baltimore began.

By May 1830 the B&O had iaid track io Ellicott’s Mills and built a station house there. One of
the carly problemn:s the railroad company had was obtaining quality steam locomotives, n invention stil
in the development stage. Early in 1831 thev announced a contest with a $4,C00 prize for the best
locomotive design and scon hired the winner, Phineas Davis, to set up shop on Prati Street. Local
inventor Ross Winans was also developing powerful iocomotives; in 1835 when Davis was kitled in a
locomotive explosion, Winans took cver the B&O engine-building shops and over the next decade built
some of the most successful locomotives used on the line. In 1845 he opened his own shop on Pratt
Street, just east of the B&O yards. By now the railroad had reached Cumberland and was beginning to
build a spur line to Locust Point to have access to a deepwater terminal. Ever more powerful steam
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locomotives had to be built to haul heavy loads of coal from Western Maryland to the city. When the
B&O finally reached Wheeling, West Virginia, and the Ohio River in 1853, the railroad had some 1,000
employees; by 1860, that figure had doubled. Statistics offered by the company in the fall of 1857
boasted that the B&O had the *“largest fleet of any railroad in America,” with 236 locomotives and 3,668
freight cars.

All of this building activity needed workmen—boiler makers, metal workers, machinists,
blacksmiths, firemen, carpenters, painters, and tinners, among others. As the B&O reached westward
and the local engine and car-building shops expanded, more and more workers sought housing in the
area. The first houses went up beginning in 1833, north of the yards on Pratt, Lombard, and Hollins
Street, and south of the yards on McHenry and Ramsay Streets, and Washington Boulevard. Two-and-
a-half-stories high and usually only two bays wide, they were clearly built as the homes of workingmen.
By the mid-1840s, at a time when the yards and car-building shops were rapidly expanding, builders
started to put up a new form of slightly larger, working class house. Called two-story-and-attic houses,
they had lower-pitched gable roofs that allowed for extra rooms in the attic story. The building of block
after block of these houses in the decade 1845-55 exactly corresponds to the real beginning of the
industrial revolution in Baltimore, when new steam-powered factories sprang up on undeveloped land
outside the old city. The area in southwest Baltimore centered around the B&O yards would become
one of the most important industrial sections of the city by the end of the nineteenth century.

The Pigtown Historic District grew up as more and more large-scale factory businesses set up
shop near the B&O yards in southwest Baltimore. Ross Winans’ engine-building shop came first, but
was soon followed by the Hayward, Bartlett iron-manufacturing plant, located on the southwest corner
of Pratt and Scott Streets. This important Baltimore business grew out of a stove manufacturing foundry
started by George Hayward in 1832 in South Baltimore. By the 1840s the company specialized in cast
iron stoves; in 1846 it bought out the Latrobe Stove Foundry and began manufacturing this popular
brand and selling it nationally. Soon Thomas Bartlett joined the firm and in 1850 the two men moved to
the Scott Street site, where they built new warehouses, workshops, and foundries, all needing skilled
workmen.

The company grew enormously in the 1850s, making prefabricated cast-iron building fronts and
commercial structures shipped west on the B&O, and then carried on riverboats to towns on the
Mississippi River. Baltimore’s architectural cast-iron soon became famous throughout the South, and
much influenced the look of New Orleans, with its many Baltimore-made, cast-iron balconies and other
architectural ornaments. The company’s architectural ironwork could be found in the United States
Capitol, the South Carolina Statehouse, and in Baltimore’s own Peabody Library. In 1863 Hayward,
Bartlett & Co. bought Ross Winans’ Locomotive Works, located between the company’s site on Scott
Street and the B&O Mount Clare shops, and began building train engines as the Baltimore Locomotive
Works. By the 1870s, the firm, now known as Bartlett, Robbins, & Co., had become one of the
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country’s largest producers of iron gas-lighting apparatus. Although gas street-lights had been
introduced years before, houses were now beginning to be built with interior gas-light fixtures, many
made by the Bartlett-Robbins Co. In an 1881 publication, the firm was noted as being “among the most
prominent of the manufacturing establishments of this city” that was “now one of the most extensive
manufa(l:turers of architectural iron gas-works, and heating by hot water and steam, in the United
States.”

In the 1890s the company employed over a 1,000 workers and was ranked as the largest iron
foundry in the United States. When World War I broke out, the firm produced large numbers of
munitions. Finally, in 1927, the Pittsburgh-based Koppers Company bought the business and its
facilities, built new, more modern buildings on the site, and began producing a wider variety of metal
products. The company remained a major employer in southwest Baltimore until its closing in recent
years.

Another long-lived business in the area was the gas works, located several blocks southwest of
Ostend Street, between Scott and Nanticoke Streets. Near here, at the corner of Scott and Hamburg
Streets, the Peoples’ Gas Company began manufacturing gas in 1870. The B&O brought Western
Maryland coal to the plant to make coal gas in a retort house and then piping the gas to another building
for purifying, and finally storage in tanks on the property. In 1880 the Peoples’ Gas Company joined
with Baltimore’s original Old Gas-Light Co., chartered in 1817 by Rembrandt Peale and others, and the
Consumers’ Mutual Gas-light Co. to form the Consolidated Gas Company of Baltimore, which now
made gas from carburated water. The large brick Generator and Retort House they built east of Bayard
Street in 1885-86 is one of the few remaining nineteenth century gas-generating buildings in the country.
The east half of the building served as the generator house, the west half was the retort house. Four
large gas holders were originally located east of the building, but are now gone.

Also located in Spring Gardens, just south of the Historic District, were two glass manufacturers,
providing jobs to several hundred local men. One of the earliest glass production houses in the country
began on Federal hill in 1790. In 1857 the Baltimore Glass Works opened at Spring Gardens to make
bottles, jars, and other glass containers, and in 1872 was joined by the Maryland Glass Works, which
specialized in making window glass at its factory in the 2100 block of Wicomico Street. This firm was
purchased by Captain Isaac Emerson, the manufacturer of Bromo-Seltzer, in 1910, to make containers
for his drug company’s products. Emerson had been buying his trademark blue glass from other
suppliers but then decided to manufacture it himself locally and soon it became known as “Maryland
Blue” glass. The company also made the blue glass jars for another locally-made product, Noxzema
skin cream. The factory operated seven days a week, with four six-hour shifts, thus providing many jobs

' John T. Scharf, A4 History of Baltimore City and County, Parts I and Il (Baltimore: Regional Publishing Co., 1971).
p. 426
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for local residents. Not long after Capt. Emerson bought the Maryland Glass Works, the Baltimore
Enamel and Novelty Company opened its plant in the same block of Wicomico Street. First opened in
1896 as the Baltimore Enamelling Company, the firm manufactured enamelled cooking utensils and
signs.

Another major local employer was the United Railway & Electric Company, whose offices were
located in the 1200 block of Washington Boulevard. Extensive car barns for storing and repairing
streetcars occupied several blocks southwest of Bush Street and Washington Boulevard, opposite Carroll
Park. This facility was known as the Carroll Park Shops of the URE. Created in 1899 to amalgamate
the city’s fragmented street railway system, the United Railways & Electric Company hired B&O
architect E. Francis Baldwin to design a single, centralized shop for repairing and rebuilding streetcars.
Two huge one-story buildings (each covering an entire block) went up on the southeast side of
Washington Boulevard, between Bush and Elk Streets. Each structure is lit by four long roof monitors
that run the entire length of the building. Today, these turn-of-the-century facilities still stand as the
repair shop for MTA buses.

The period also saw America’s first major wave of European immigration, when close to a
million famine Irish sought refuge in this country and German immigration reached new records. Since
many of the immigrants were poor farmers, unskilled in particular trades, their sudden availability made
rapid industrial expansion and transportation improvements possible. This aspect of the story has
particular relevance to the Pigtown area, for it, like the blocks north of the B&O, drew many German
and Irish immigrants eager for work. Many of the Irish stayed north of Pratt Street, near their church,
St. Peter the Apostle, built in 1843 on the northeast corner of Poppleton and Hollins Street. But south
of Pratt Street, the new community growing up southeast of the rail yards attracted mostly Germans.

In 1855 the German Church of the United Brethren in Christ, located on Conway, near Sharp
Street, purchased land on the northeast corner of Scott and Carroll Streets for a mission church for local
Germans. Here they erected the Otterbein Chapel between 1857 and 1859, the first large church to be
built in the area. The land was owned by the Elders, Trustees, and members of the German Evangelical
Reformed Church in the City of Baltimore, who had begun to sell off lots facing Washington Boulevard
in the early 1850s. The church elders later developed the rest of the block, hiring builders to put up the
three-story houses facing Scott Street in 1868 to 1870, the three-story alley houses on the east side of
Otterbein in 1871, and the two-story houses on the north side of Carroll Street and the west side of
Otterbein in 1869-71. Almost all house sales were to Germans.

Another German Reformed Church owned the block across the street, south of Carroll and west
of Scott Street. They did not develop the land themselves but rather started selling parcels to local
builders in 1858. Originally a small German church also occupied the northwest corner of Cross and
Nanticoke Streets. Two other German churches were only a few blocks away—St. Stephen’s German



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places Pigtowd thistorio Digtct (B-1308)

1 : N f P rt
Continuation Sheet ame of Property

Baltimore, Maryland

Section _8 Page _6 County and State

Evangelical Lutheran church, on the northwest corner of Hamburg and Hanover Streets (1852) and St.
Martin’s German Evangelical Lutheran at the northeast corner of Sharp and Henrietta Streets, built in
1867.

The history of the B&O Railroad is inextricably linked to German immigration after the Civil
War. In 1867, John Garrett, the President of the railroad, entered into a business relationship with the
North-German Lloyd line, that would bring many immigrants directly from Bremen to Baltimore. The
railroad built terminal facilities on Locust Point and ran rail lines right up to where the ships docked.
German or Eastern European immigrants who boarded in Bremen could buy combination steamer and
railroad tickets, so that when their boat landed they could disembark into the waiting B&O passenger
cars that would take them to cities like Cincinnati, Milwaukee, and St. Louis. Naturally, some Germans
stayed in Baltimore, finding jobs near where they landed in Locust Point, South Baltimore, or further
west, near the B&O car shops. Others took the ferry to Fells Point and settled further north, on either
side of Broadway.

An investigation into the land records of Baltimore City shows that German-born builders put up
many of the houses in the Pigtown Historic District, a pattern that also holds true for northeast
Baltimore, as well. Most of these men only built a few rows of houses here and then worked elsewhere,
but several became quite well known because of their extensive operations in other parts of the city.
German-born builders at work in the district include Meyer Reinhard, Conrad and Henry Rippel, Henry
Saumenig, Celsius Soffell, Frederick Weis, Wilbur Stubbs, Charles Dietz, George W. Moke, Jacob
Saum, Joseph Cone and Henry Bruns, and August Weber. Among them, Jacob Saum went on to build
many of the three-story houses facing Union Square in the 1870s and early 1880s, and Joseph Cone
developed much of the area around Harlem Park in the 1880s. The partnership of August Weber and
Joseph Hirt specialized in neoclassical-style, brown brick “marble houses,” especially in the Patterson
Park area, in the early 1900s.

Not surprisingly, most of the houses built sold to other Germans. Many houses were purchased
by owner-occupants, but others sold to investors who then rented them to other Germans. This pattern
of German builders selling to German residents holds true for most of the blocks in the Historic District,
all of which were constructed before World War I broke out.

The Pigs in Pigtown

Pigtown earned its name because, during the second half of the nineteenth century, pigs
offloaded from B&O Railroad cars coming in from the Middle West were herded across Ostend and
Cross Streets to slaughterhouses in South Baltimore. Since the area was a German neighborhood and
most of the city’s butchers were German, many pigs were also butchered locally, for sale in area shops.
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Some butchers belonged to the Baltimore Butchers Loan and Annuity Association, which gave
mortgages on houses purchased in the Historic District in the late 1870s.

In the early days of B&O service, pigs, cattle, and sheep were unloaded into pens that were part
of the Mount Clare yards. After the Civil War, however, the trade in live animals was such a regular
part of the Baltimore business scene that individual stockyards began to be established in various
locations near, and north of, Pratt Street. In a history of the city published in 1873, George W.
Howard’s The Monumental City, the author brags that “the Cattle Market of Baltimore has long been
famous.” > He notes that cattle, hogs, and sheep come to the city by rail and water, from Virginia, West
Virginia, Pennsylvania, Tennessee, Kentucky, Missouri, Illinois, Indiana, Ohio, North Carolina, and
Texas. Good facilities offered to drovers by the competing railroad lines in the city made Baltimore a
popular market destination. According to Howard, 363,138 hogs arrived in Baltimore in 1872 alone.
The Wilhelm Droveyards, located on Pratt Street, near Payson, was one of the city’s largest.

Baltimore was a major supplier of provisions to Southern Atlantic states, via both railroads and
steamers in this period. Howard claims that in 1872 Baltimore businesses sent 70,000 hogsheads of
bacon and bulk meats; 30,000 barrels of pork; and 20,000 casks of ham to Southern markets and the
West Indies. Lard refining had also become big business. Advertisements for local firms abounded:
“T. Robert Jenkins & Son, Wholesale Provision Dealers and curers of the “Maryland Ham;” “G.
Cassard & Son, Pork Packers, Ham curers, and dealers in Provisions, prime lard and lard oil;” “George
& Jenkins, dealers in ham sides, shoulders, beef, pork and lard, manufacturers of refined lard and lard
oil.”

In 1881 the B&O and the Pennsylvania Railroad joined forces to build pens for cattle, hogs, and
sheep west of the city near the old Frederick Road, long a popular cattle trail for western farmers. By
the mid-1880s many individual stockyards clustered around this location until, in 1892, they were
consolidated as the Union Stockyards, which occupied seventy-five acres southwest of the Frederick
Road, and was described by contemporaries as being second in size only to the Chicago stockyards.
There was even a hotel located nearby, the Claremont, where buyers could stay before the auctions. The
Union Stockyards closed in 1958. Scharf described one of the smaller yards, which opened in
September, 1881 as having 40 pens, each capable of holding a car-load of cattle, and a wooden structure
with capacity for six thousand hogs, and a sheep-house which will hold ten thousand sheep, besides
other accessories for feeding and storing stock.

? George W. Howard, The Monumental City, Its Past History and Present Resources (Baltimore: J.D. Ehlers & Co., 1873),
p. 250.
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Old-time residents of Pigtown recall the pigs being herded through the streets “to the
slaughterhouses in South Baltimore.” One such slaughterhouse was Heinz’s Riverside Abattoir,
established in 1885 in the 1900 block of Light Street. The operation covered half a block.

Another large-scale local business involved with the trade in live animals was the William
Wilkens” Curled Hair and Bristle Manufactory, built just outside the old city line south of Frederick
Avenue, along the Gwynns Falls. Wilkens came to Baltimore from Germany in 1836 and opened a
plant to process animal hair. When the business grew, he moved the operation to a much larger site on
Frederick Road, just outside the city, in 1847, building a new factory next to the Gwynn’s Falls, which
could receive the waste run-off. Since he was several miles from the city, Wilkens also built dormitories
for workers, mostly German and Austrian immigrants. The entire facility was the centrepiece of an
advertisement for the company, lithographed in 1856. At this time steam curled hair, made from the
tails of cattle and horses, as well as the hair of hogs and cattle, was the principal product. Its springiness
made it ideal for stuffing mattresses, sofas, chairs, and carriage seats. The hair was scalded, then dried
in brick kilns or drying sheds, stored, and packed for shipment. The firm also made brushes, bristles,
glue, and hair upholstery cloth. In 1873 the writer George Howard said the factory employed 700 hands
and turned out 40,000 pounds of manufactured goods a week that were sold throughout the United
States and exported abroad.

North of William Wilkens’ enterprise there was a large leather and tanning operation run by the
Appold family, known as Appold Bros., Hide, Oil & Leather Works, as well as a Glycerine and Soap
Works. Wilkens died in 1879 but his sons ran the business into the 1920s. The family laid out Wilkens
Avenue as a grassy boulevard, for six blocks west of Gilmor Street in the early1900s. Rows of so-called
“marble houses” were built here for employees in the area, including the longest row of houses in the
city.

Probably because there were so many Germans settled in this area of southwest Baltimore, there
were also a number of breweries and beer gardens here. North of Wilkens Avenue several German
breweries operated near the Gwynns Falls—Eigenbrot and Dukehart Breweries north of Frederick Road,
and the Gottleib, Bauernschmidt, Straus Brewery, south of Frederick Road. The Spring Garden Brewery
was located at the end of Scott Street, a block south of Ostend Street. A German Scheutzen Park, or
shooting club, with an extensive beer garden attached, operated in Carroll Park in the late nineteenth
century. The park also boasted a music pavilion for band concerts.
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Criterion C

The Pigtown Historic District gains significance as a very early example of a type of urban
neighborhood which provided housing for Baltimore’s industrial working class beginning in the 1850s
and reaching maturity in the late nineteenth century. The district includes intact examples of the entire
range of forms of vernacular residential architecture which characterized Baltimore’s urban working
class neighborhoods from the 1830s to World War I. The district also cogently illustrates a typical
pattern of development, in which developers created a range of house sizes and prices to correspond
with the different job and salary levels of local residents. Scott and parts of Cross Street are built up
with three-story houses for managers and upper-level employee; less expensive two-story houses are
built on most of the other main streets and all of the side streets; and even more modest two-story houses
are built on the alley streets bisecting most blocks.

Despite this range of housing options, which dates to the early 1850s, important local
businessman and locomotive builder Ross Winans built experimental housing for workers just north of
the Historic District in 1871. Located on the east and west side of Parkin Street, between Ramsay and
Pratt Street, as well as the east side of Bartlett Street (east of Parkin), from McHenry to Ramsay, these
four-story, two-bay wide brick houses were built to provide decent rental housing at low cost for the
many workers in the area. The units did not prove attractive to local residents and were torn down in
1897 when the Bartlett, Robbins iron works wanted to expand onto the site.

Although the district contains typical examples of each of the style of vernacular architecture
built in the city’s working class neighborhoods over the course of the nineteenth and early twentieth
centuries, it is especially interesting because of the one-of-a-kind rows built here that are not seen
anywhere else in city. In the 1880s several different local builders designed rows that are quite unique,
specifically the row of fifteen two-story houses built with their gable ends to the street on the west side
of Sargeant Street, just northeast of Ostend, in 1886 by Charles Dietz, and a row nearby built with false
mansard roofs and dormer windows.

Terra cotta and molded brickwork decorations began to be used on area houses in the late 1880s,
as part of the general influence of the Queen Anne style seen on most Baltimore buildings of the period.
In the Historic District, however, there are more examples found than in other areas, probably because
of the proximity of local brickyards, as well as the Maryland TerraCotta Company, south of Elk Street,
between Hamburg and Wicomico. The 1886 builder of a row on the northwest side of Sargeant Street,
just south of Cross, used terra cotta keystones on first floor door and window lintels decorated with
classical heads. Late Italianate-style houses built on the north side of Washington Boulevard in the mid-
1880s, east of the present Pratt Library branch, have decorative lintels made of molded bricks, as do
many of the rows built in the blocks between Cross and Ostend Streets in the mid-1880s.
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Another series of houses, built later in two blocks south of Carey Street, feature a highly creative
use of locally produced terra cotta decorations, that are used as medallions to decorate various parts of
otherwise plain, brown brick neo-classical facades. This individualistic use almost has a folk quality—
in one row the builders runs a string of square, variously decorated tiles across the fagade as a belt
course between the first and second floors; in another he frames upper story windows with a set of tiles.
Similar terra cotta tiles are used on the facades of two area churches—the Zion A.M.E. Church built in
1900 on the west side of Carroll Street, south of Carey; and on the Methodist chapel erected some years
earlier near the southwest corner of Washington Boulevard and Carey Street, in the same block. A
highly unusual, single two-story, three-bay-wide building still stands on the southwest corner of
Sargeant and Cross Streets, built after 1906. It has a triangular pediment over the central bay and a
facade decorated with differently patterned terra cotta tiles.

The Historic District also contains a fine example of a mid-nineteenth century brick Greek
Revival-style church, the Otterbein Church of the United Brethren in Christ, already listed on the
National Register of Historic Places.

The Walters Bath House, also on the National Register, on the north side of Washington
Boulevard, east of Poppleton Street, is one of a group of well-designed public bath houses made
available in immigrant, working class neighborhoods by philanthropist and art collector Henry Walters.
Most of the two-story houses in the Pigtown Historic District were built without indoor plumbing, so the
public bath houses offered an important local convenience.
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UTM References:
Baltimore West, MD quad

A: 18-359342-4349515
B: 18-359783-4349174
C: 18-359581-4348616
D: 18-359040-4348406
E: 18-358708-4348735
F: 18-358667-4349037
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Verbal Boundary Description:

Beginning at the southeast corner of McHenry and South Amity Street, running east to the corner of
Poppleton Street and south along Poppleton to Clifford Street (the north property lines of lots on the
north side of Washington Boulevard); east along Clifford to Barre Street and south along Barre to
Carroll Street; east along Carroll to South Paca Street and south along Paca to Ostend Street; northwest
along Ostend to Hamburg Street and southwest on Hamburg to Bayard; northwest on Bayard to Carroll
Street and southwest along Carroll one block to Bush Street; northwest along Bush to Washington
Boulevard and northeast along Washington Boulevard one block to Bayard Street; northwest along
Bayard (bordering Carroll Park) to Herkimer Street and then northeast on Herkimer to Ostend; east on
Ostend one block to James Street, then north along James to Ramsay Street; east on Ramsay a half block
to South Amity Street and then north along South Amity one block to McHenry.

Boundary Justification:

This boundary line includes all of the oldest historical resources to be found in the area, while
also extending southwest to Carroll Park to include all of the surviving housing built in this
working class section of southwest Baltimore. The northeast boundary ends at the southern
boundary of the already existing Barre Circle National Register District. The blocks south of
McHenry Street to Clifford Street, and east of Poppleton to Scott Street, are now the site of a
new townhouse development, and are therefore excluded from the Historic District.
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United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service
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Continuation Sheet

Name of Property

Baltimore, Maryland

Section _10 Page _ 1 County and State

Geographical Data (corrected 9/2/08) ?%545\

UTM References:

Baltimore West, MD quad

A: 18-359376-4349997
B: 18-359783-4349174
C: 18-359581-4348616
D: 18-358727-4348813
E: 18-358708-4348735
F: 18-358667-4349037
G: 18-358901-4349261

Verbal Boundary Description:

Beginning at the southeast corner of McHenry and South Amity Street, running east to the corner of
Poppleton Street and south along Poppleton to Clifford Street (the north property lines of lots on the
north side of Washington boulevard); east along Clifford to Scott Street, north to Ramsay (to adjoin the
existing Barre Circle Historic District), turning south along Barre to Carroll Street; east along Carroll to
South Paca Street and south along Paca to Ostend Street; northwest along Ostend to Hamburg Street and
southwest on Hamburg to Bayard; northwest on Bayard to Carroll Street and southwest along Carroll
one block to Bush Street; northwest along Bush to Washington Boulevard and northeast along
Washington Boulevard one block to Bayard Street; northwest along Bayard (bordering Carroll Park) to
Herkimer Street and then northeast on Herkimer to Ostend; east on Ostend one block to James Street,
then north along James to Ramsay Street; east on Ramsay a half block to South Amity Street and then
north along South Amity one block to McHenry.

Boundary Justification:

This boundary line includes all of the oldest historical resources to be found in the area, while
also extending southwest to Carroll Park to include all of the surviving housing built in this
working class section of southwest Baltimore. The northeast boundary ends at the southern
boundary of the already existing Barre Circle National Register District. The blocks south of
McHenry Street to Clifford Street, and east of Poppleton to Scott Street, are now the site of a
new townhouse development, and are therefore excluded from the Historic District.
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UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
EVALUATION/RETURN SHEET

REQUESTED ACTION: ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTATION

PROPERTY Pigtown Historic District
NAME :

MULTIPLE
NAME :

STATE & COUNTY: MARYLAND, Baltimore

DATE RECEIVED: 11/14/06 DATE OF PENDING LIST:

DATE OF 16TH DAY: DATE OF 45TH DAY: 12/28/06

DATE OF WEEKLY LIST:

REFERENCE NUMBER: 06001177

REASONS FOR REVIEW:

APPEAL: N DATA PROBLEM: N LANDSCAPE: N LESS THAN 50 YEARS:
OTHER: N PDIL: N PERIOD: N PROGRAM UNAPPROVED:

REQUEST: N SAMPLE: N SLR DRAFT: N NATIONAL:
COMMENT WAIVER: N

ACCEPT RETURN REJECT DATE

ABSTRACT/SUMMARY COMMENTS :

additional Documentation AcSSpicd

RECOM. /CRI A

)/

&
n_ : 77

REVIEWER

préciprang 0 ‘%OC{

TELEPHONE DATE

DOCUMENTATION see attached comments Y/N see attached SLR Y/N

If a nomination is returned to the nominating authority, the
nomination is no longer under consideration by the NPS.
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National Register of Historic Places
Memo to File

Correspondence

The Correspondence consists of communications from (and possibly to) the nominating authority, notes
from the staff of the National Register of Historic Places, and/or other material the National Register of
Historic Places received associated with the property.

Correspondence may also include information from other sources, drafts of the nomination, letters of
support or objection, memorandums, and ephemera which document the efforts to recognize the
property.



UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
EVALUATION/RETURN SHEET

REQUESTED ACTION: NOMINATION

PROPERTY Pigtown Historic District
NAME :

MULTIPLE
NAME :

STATE & COUNTY: MARYLAND, Baltimore

DATE RECEIVED: 11/14/06 DATE OF PENDING LIST: 12/01/06
DATE OF 16TH DAY: 12/16/06 DATE OF 45TH DAY: 12/28/06
DATE OF WEEKLY LIST:

REFERENCE NUMBER: 06001177

REASONS FOR REVIEW:

APPEAL: N DATA PROBLEM: N LANDSCAPE: N LESS THAN 50 YEARS: N
OTHER : N PDIL: N PERIOD: N PROGRAM UNAPPROVED: N
REQUES N SAMPLE: N SLR DRAFT: N NATIONAL: N

COMMENT WAIVER: N

ACCEPT ____ RETURN REJECT I Z ' 2%% DATE
\

ABSTRACT/SUMMARY COMMENTS :

RECOM. /CRITERIA

REVIEWER DISCIPLINE

TELEPHONE DATE

DOCUMENTATION see attached comments Y/N see attached SLR Y/N

If a nomination is returned to the nominating authority, the
nomination is no longer under consideration by the NPS.
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Maryland Department of ir’_lgz_szng

Robert L. Ehriich, Jr. Audrey E. Scott

Governor Secretary
Michael S. Steele Florence E. Burian
Lt. Governor | Deputy Secretary

May 23, 3006/ - NATIONA] |
Mr. J. Rodney Little (RIR RS = | I}
Director, State Historic Preservation Officer | ‘ -] 2006 U
Maryland Historical Trust L JUN :
100 Community Place =
Crownsville, MD 21032 . \ p—

BY e

STATE CLEARINGHOUSE RECOMMENDATION

State Application Identifier: MD20060410-0318

Applicant:  Maryland Historical Trust

Project Description: Historic Nomination: Pigtown Historic District (Replaces MD20050722-0659)
Project Location: Baltimore City

Approving Authority: U.S. Department of the Interior DOI/NPS

CFDA Number: 15914

Recommendation: Consistent

Dear Mr. Little:

In accordance with Presidential Executive Order 12372 and Code of Maryland Regulation 14.24.04, the State
Clearinghouse has coordinated the intergovernmental review of the referenced project. This letter constitutes the
State process review and recommendation. This recommendation is valid for a period of three years from the date
of this letter.

Review comments were requested from the Maryland Department(s) of the Environment, Transportation, Baltimore
City, and the Maryland Department of Planning.

The Maryland Department(s) of Transportation, and Environment; Baltimore City; and the Maryland Department
of Planning found this project to be consistent with their plans, programs, and objectives.

The State Application Identifier Number must be placed on any correspondence pertaining to this project. The
State Clearinghouse must be kept informed if the approving authority cannot accommodate the recommendation.

Please remember, you must comply with all applicable state and local laws and regulations. If you need assistance
or have questions, contact the State Clearinghouse staff person noted above at 410-767-4490 or through e-mail at
mbarnes@mdp.state.md.us. Also please complete the attached form and return it to the State Clearinghouse
as soon as the status of the project is known. Any substitutions of this form must include the State Application
Identifier Number. This will ensure that our files are complete.

301 West Prestan Street @ Suite 11071 @ Baltivore, Marybinid 21201-2303
Teleplione: 410.7674500 @ Fux: 4107674480 o 10l Lyve: 1.877.767.6277 @ 1TY Users: Morvland Kelay

Luternet: 29w NP, state.md, s



Mr. J. Rodney Little
May 23, 3006
Page 2

Thank you for your cooperation with the MIRC process.

Sincerely,

v 2 ) t
/<”vvfé1‘/' & 7 /WL/}M/\
Linda C. Janey, J.D., Director

Maryland State Clearinghouse
for Intergovernmental Assistance

LCJ:MB
Enclosure(s)
cc:  Carol Shull - National Register*
Beth Cole - MHT
Joane Mueller - MDE
Cindy Johnson - MDOT
Terry Royce - BCIT
Pat Goucher - MDPL

06-0318_CRR.CLS.doc
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Mr. J. Rodney Little | NATIONA] Py : FLACES |

Director )

Maryland Historical Trust
100 Community Place
Crownsville, Maryland 21032

REF: CLG Review: National Register Designation of Pigtown, B-1394
i 7
Dear Mr. Little:

Through the public hearing process members of the community have been divided over
the name chosen for the district currently being nominated as Pigtown. Some testimony
was heard that expressed concern over the name as a historically derogatory term and
suggested Washington Village as an alternative. Testimony from the sponsor of the
nomination and their historian stated that the name is historically accurate and not
derogatory in nature. Both sides agree that the criteria for designation are accurate and
are in support of this nomination for this historically and architecturally important
district.

Sincerely,

/
TylerGearhart
Chair

TG/lw

cc. Peter Kurtze
Jack Dana
CHAP Commissioners and Staff

COMMISSION 1OR HISTORICAT AND ARCHITEC TURAL PRESERVATION
‘harles L. Benton, Jr. Building 417 East Fayette Strect Eighth Floor Baltmore, MD 21202-3416
Plan Preserve Prosper

—~
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Maryland Department of Planning
Maryland Historical Trust

Robert L. Ehrlich, Jr. Audrey E. Scout
Governor Secretary
Michael S. Steele Florence B. Burian
Lt. Governor November 13, 2006 Deputy Secretary

I

JECEIVEY

i

Mr. John W. Roberts \ J
National Register of Historic Places

National Park Service — ‘
1201 I (Eye) Street, org.2280 iy
Washington, DC 20005 R

RE: PIGTOWN HISTORIC DISTRICT
Baltimore City, Maryland

Dear Mr. Roberts:

Enclosed is documentation for nominating the Pigtown Historic
District, Baltimore City, Maryland to the National Register of
Historic Places. The state review board and the owners concur in my
recommendation for listing. Should you have questions in this
matter, please contact Peter Kurtze at (410) 514-7649.

Sincerely,

A
J. Rodney Little
Director-State Historic
Preservation Officer
JRL/jmg
cc: State Clearinghouse #MD20050722-0659
Mary Ellen Hayward
Enclosures: NR form and 45 continuation sheets
1 USGS map
34 - 5x7 b/w prints
Correspondence: legal ad, 5 April 2006
letter, Janey to Little, 23 May 2006
letter, Gearhart to Kurtze, 10 August 2006

100 Community Place ¢ Crownsville, Maryland 21032 e 410.514.7600 ¢ www.marylandhistoricaltrust.net




Maryland Department of Planning

Martin O'Mall . . Richard Eberhart Hall
- wenian Maryland Historical Trust O ety
Anthony G. Brown —— Matthew J. Power

Lt. Governor Y T—e—, Deputy Secretary
I o /
ECEIVE
-i ¥V i <

SEP 12 2008

September 4, 2008 »
, T. REGISTER OF Hi
NATIONAL PARKS g(E)RR\'/?C,;LACES

Mr. J. Paul Loether, Chief

National Register of Historic Places
National Park Service

1201 I (Eye) Street, N.W.

Mail Stop 2280

Washington, D.C. 20005

RE: Pigtown Historic District, Baltimore city, Maryland
Dear Mr. Loether:

It has come to my attention that the National Register nomination for the Pigtown Historic District
contained errors in Section 10, Geographical Data. The district boundaries were drawn incorrectly on
the USGS quad and sketch map submitted with the nomination, and did not conform to the narratives in
Sections 7 and 10. 1 am enclosing revised maps, and a continuation sheet which lists the updated UTM
coordinates (only points A and D were changed).

I apologize for any inconvenience this may cause. Please contact Peter Kurtze of my staff at (410)
514-7649 if you have any questions.

Sincerely,

J. Rodney Little
Director
State Historic Preservation Officer

100 Community Place = Crownsville, Maryland 21032-2023
Telephone: 410.514.7600 « Fax: 410.987.4071 + Toll Free: 1.800.756.0119 « TTY Users: Maryland Relay

Internet: www.marylandhbistoricaltrust.net
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The Ghosts of Pigtown

What is the pricc of a cover up? Does the fear of exposure, generates a need for another cover up? Human
failings, were a subject to theological, psychological, sociological & mystical (to name a tew) debates, with
consequences to come. The carriers of these consequences, were the human consclous (when available) or
the higher spirits. The Ghasts of Pigtown or the Curse of Plgtown is the cost of a cover up tiat now exwends
for over 125* years. The cry from their graves, of mistreated human beings that were forced to live “Pig’s
like “ life styles, demand recognition and an apology for their lifc long suffering and humiliation, and not
a cover up that employs a pig/animal scheme to conceal their existence. The price for this cover up was high,
and etill is. The eancer of blight and unrelenting human ills inflicred on our community, were endless, and
the oceasional remissions in between, were short and very few. The time to come clean is now. And we all

know how.

Please note: Washington Village is a urban rencwal name
given to the arca by the Dept. Of Housing (Sun Paper 4/29/78)

N[}, / . . AN 2
Stop Racist Symbols, *w-ammgton Vlllz—l-gg* Stop a culture

Stop Racist Mcmories!!! of deceit & lies!!!

Other Documented and Honorable Historical Nanmes in o4” area, are Numerous:
Carroll’s Estate (Area’s 2,362 acres, acquired in 1732), The Grand Palladian Crossing -

Gateway - , (Named after Palladisn architecture employed by Carroll’s son who inherited the estate, and in 1754 used
it to beaurlfy the estate. The same style was used some yeurs later when the White Ilouse was built).

Nced more namces; Plcasc contact us.

Fvery hody knows that the name Pigtown has nothing to do with pigs running the streets of Washingron
Blvd., It has to do with prostitutes and helpless people abandoned by society, and who were left no other
choice than live “Pig's like™ life styles, ou the west side border of the City linc (Arca of Washington Blvd, and
Gwynns Falls, % milc West of Monroc St. - Ref. City annex. 1888). The following article was published in the
Baltimore News in 9/20/1892. «.......... Probably the worst slum was "Pigtown," a Negro community “away down
on the southwestern limit of . . [the] city where Colurbia avenue [now Washington Boulevard] loses liself In a labyrinth
ulbrickyards, lunbe: yards, lots filled with noisome weeds and open stagnant pools, where open sewers cross and recross
each other ..~." Reporters questioned inhabitants and discovered they could not affard doctors or medicines and did not
know about charity services. Their living conditlons were abominable. Wrote one reporter:

Open drains, great lots filled with high weeds, ashes and garbage accumulated in the alleyways, cellars filled with filthy
black water, honses thar are toral sreangers o the touch ol whitewash or scrubbing brush, human bodies that have been
strangers for months 10 soap and water, villainous looking uegroes who loiter and slecp around the street corners and
never work; vile and vicious women, with but a smock to cover their black nakedness, lounging in the doarways or
squatting upon the steps, hurling fon! epirhers at every passer-by; foul streets, foul people, in foul tenements filled with
foul air; thar's "Plgrown.” 23

This iwpurtaut article was reprinted in numerous historical studies by distinguished historians. “Pigtown” was
aderogatory,and an adjective, used to describe other “Pockets” of human misery, such as the Camden

Station area, east of MY K.

Clontinue back page
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While Ilistorian James D. Crooks quotes the article as is(pg 20), historian Sherry H. Olson, assigns the
2° parag. To her description of the Camden Station Area as a common stencil to describe a similar
phenomena(pg 223). M’s Olson adds “clusters of white immigrants, especially Russian Jews and
Ttalians™ to “black immigrants.........” to describe the slums surrounding the Camden Station. This
article, written vver a ceatury ago, gives credence o present duys cleiin made by 2 member of the
black community (MBC), of 2 “Pigtowns™ along the Boulevard: A Black Pigtown and a White
Pigtown. While the MBC sees the issue of Black Pigtown along the lines of historical human
deprivation as described above, and claims historical presence to a small section of the community,
they are generous enough to allow the white Pigtowners their own enclave further to the east. The
white Pigtowners, are more like animal worshipers, Sellishily, claimiug the entire area to themselves.
This raises the suspicion , that somewhere along thc historical linc, some white racists concocted a
mcaning change to the derogatory called Pigtown in order to deny the black community a historical
presence in the area.

It was a known fact that the name Pigtown” was a derogatory, that defined the “arritude™ and the low self
esteem of a people for generations 1o come, and the major source of blight and ecouomic breakdown that
relentlessly pursued the arca from times immemorial . The [lousing Department recognized these failures
and an article published in the Sun 4/29/78, clearly states that “The Department of Housing has discarded
the name Pigtown.....to be replaced with 3 new districts; Washington Village, Ridgelys elight and Barre

«©

Washington Village is forlunate (o have a [ew positive historical attractions and events, and Pigtown, for
surc, is not onc of them. Onc of the many availeble gateway plans, boasts (No pigs), a trolley traveling through
exhibits of 150 years old industries, trains, 2 mansion and neighborhood historical events. such as: Lafayette and his

revolutionary army riding the Blvd, to meet the British at Yorktown, or George Washingion riding the Blvd. iu his coach,
flanked by soldiers, while traveling the Va.-Balto. Route......and then, 8 mixed promenade of art galleries, restaurants,
and community stores, on the 800 & 900 blocks of the Blvd., which alweys were a natural for exactly that purpose. Why

not use those truthful historical events, to promote our community.

There is an ongoing skillful Propaganda campaign 1o place the name Pigrown as frequent as possible in
news publications. This (hey hope, will muke people thiuk, tlat everybody calls the community Pigtown.
Their proficiency in doing that is unquestionablc, but is doomed to fail. The ones who know, should tell
them, that placing a concocted lie and a meutally deranged segregative invention, called the “History of
Pigtown”, as possibly the most important symhol the community has to offer, is a No, No in any
revitalization campaign, trying to civilize and inject a conscious, decency and self esteem, 1o a neighborhood
who lacks colisrence.

BEW !
ALL MURALS, SIGNS AND ARTIFACTS WITH THE NAMF OOR IMAGE OF PIGI'OWN, WERK
ADDED LATELY, TO DECEIVE THE PUBLIC. NONE OF THEM IS HISTORIC, OR

HISTORICALLY LEGITIMATE.

32*Add culture maturity time to publication date of 1 892. When the Zieglers arrived in 1902, the derogatory
Pigtown, was well entrenched,

Please support “One Flag - One Name”. For more information, Email oncflagonenamel(@msn.com

Letter-piglown;ghost of pigtown-
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(Arca also known as Mount Clare article; the ghosts of Pigtown.
plus others)
ap 90 @ @ ® Seasonal change of borders of
@ Slaughterhouse Washington Village.
@ This B&0 Muscum and the @ On page 8 - 8, row 13, together with
adjacent Mount Clare arca was not note 2, row 9; the “historian™/applicant,
a past Stock Yard, or cattle 3‘0"81_80 refers to p. 250 of Howard's book as a
arca. Call B&O Muscum to verify. ref. to the “Wilhelm Droveyards at Pratt
& Payson Sts.". (1) This combination is
@ Stadium - at Cross & Warner Sts., nowhere to be found on page 250. R
Was called the “kuh Viertel” (German (2) It is out-side the boundarics of WV,
for Cow Quarter). There was no (3) A droveyard as a midway camp & )
structure, only foot prints of cattlc. detached from a railroad is a middle man’s %
9 initiative and a non event. : e d )
4 4 . : . R\
Sample of livestock trail. Onc of : 4 P
§ g .glgl'nauy lehc Balo. Arca. Total 4.3 LL HISTORICAL MATERIAL FERENCED TO OUR AREA, IDENTIFIES e ‘“
i Mllc.s wilth a I'm(.:uon of 'lhls distance PIGTOWN NOT WITH ANIM ALS, BUT AS A DEROGATORY TO DESCRIBE i 5
- prssing on the finges o WY HUMANS, FORCED TO LIVE “PIG’S LIKE” LIFE STYE. ONLY RECENTLY, i ¢
g MURAL, SIGNS AND ARTIFACTS, WERE PLACED BY THE SAME COUPLE OF & \’i

_CULPRITS, TO DECEIVE THE PUBLIC, AS IF, THEY ARE “HISTORICAL” ITEMS, i /
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PETITI - WASHINGTON VILLAGE, BALT RE..
(To ban official use of the derogatory name Pigtown)

This is an urgent appeal to all levels of government (City, State, Federal) to remove any official support or recognition of the
name Piglown when used in the Washington Village neighborhood, or by its community associations. This shall include any
official recognition, or financial support, of the name when associated with a Street name, any public display, a community
group, or evenl. The promoters of the name Pigtown have traumatized the community in the past 10years, with a culture
of deceit, lies, fear, harassment, bribery and forgery.

As a signatory to this petition: . '
() I am aware of documented facts that the name Pigtown has nothing to do with pigs running the streets of Washington
Boulevard, it was a derogatory used to describe “pockets” of unfortunate humans, gathered in at least 2 locations along the
Boulevard, when abandoned by society. - 2
(b) While I understard the value of Historic designation for a community (NPS Form 10-900), knowing the modus operandi of
the “Pig-promoters”, I strongly believe that their application for “historic Designation™ is a mere Trojan-Horse, used, to finally
get official recogpition for a name, that forever shall stigmatize cur community.
(c) Since theapplication for a“Pigtown-Historic-Designation” was prepared in hiding, the majority of the commuaity members
were not aware of it. A few days before the hearing, a neighbor spotted on the Boulevard, a small letter size page posted on an
electric pole 2 blocks apart. Since Historic designation is mostly a state and federal affair, I recommend a denial of support by
tke City of application 10-900. This will allow the community time, to file a fact finding brief with the State and Federal
Government, which I believe will initiate a full scale investigation.
(d) I also urge the City to immediately instruct BDC to: (1) stop using the name “Main Street Pigtown” in Washington Village.
2) To immediately remove the large Pigtown sign that was posted illegally at the entrance to the commuanity, by their arca
employee .(Washington Bivd. & Barre St.).

Submitted with respect and apprzciation
Thank You

Important note (o petitioner: If not aware of all the faci J ort material
before signing pefition,  OWNER/RENTER: COM./RES: pATE: 9/lcled
R L |
Name Adcress (Number + St. Name) Phone (Area Code / Signature
(First, Mi, Last) (All must be in Washington Village) ., + Number) M(Pleplse sign full Name)

eaDogeen Q1) 0 Earra. Voo all Yo gge—

v
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PETITION - WASHINGTON VILLAGE, BALTIMORE.

(To ban official use of the derogatory name Pigtown)

This is an urgent appeal to all levels of government (City, State, Federal) to remove any official support or recognition of the
name Pigtown when used in the Washiagton Village neightorhood, or by its community associations. This shall include any
official recognition, or finar.cial support, of the name when associated with a Street name, any pubiic display, a community
group, orevent. The promoters of the name Pigtown have traumatized the community in the past 10 years, with a culture
of deceit, lies, fear, harassment, bribery and forgery.

As a signatory to this petition:

(2) I am aware of documented facts that the name Pigtown has nothing to do with pigs ranning the streets of Washington
Boulevard, it was a derogatory used to describe “pockets” of unfortunate humans, gathered in at least 2 locations along the
Boulevard, when abandoned by socicty, and were forced to live “pig like” life style. ' ' '
(b) While I understand the value of Historic designation for a community (NPS Form 10-900), knowing the modus operandi of
tae “Pig-promoters”, I strongly believe that their application for “historic Designation” is a mere Trojan-Horse, used, to finally
get official recognition for a name, that forever shall stigmatize our community.
(c) S:nce the application for a “Pigtown-Historic-Designation” was prepaed in hiding, the majority of the community members
were not aware of it. A few days before the hearing, a neighbcer spotted 02 the Boulevard, a small letter size page posted on an
electzic pole 2 blocks apart. Since Historic desigration is mostly a state and federal affair, 1 recommend a denial of supgoit by
tae City of application 10-900. This will allow the community time, o file a fact finding brief with the State and Federal
Government, which I believe will initiate a full scale investigation. '
(d) [ also urge the City to immediately instruct BDC to: (1) stop usi ag the rame “Main Street Pigtown™ in Washington Vilage.
(2) To immediately remove the large Pigtown sign that was posted illegally af the ertrance to the community, by their area
employee .(Washington Blvd. & Barre St.).

' Submizted with respect and appreciaticn

Thank You -
Important note to petitioner: If not aware of all the fucts, please read above copy and the enclosed support material
before signing petition. ~ OWNER/RENTER: COM./RES: DATE: Igjt-loC (@

Name Address (Number + St. Name) Phore (Area Code Signacure

. (First, M, Last) (Altmust be in Washington V' llage) + Number) _~_(Please sign full Name) Y

Nrrin)  Kerlh | 29 wushn j/'/l Al e -woz | gl /%‘:# "
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(To ban official use of the derogatory name Pigtown)

Ttis is ar urgent appeal to all levels of govemment (City, State, Federal) 1o remove any off:cial support or recognition of the
name Pigtown when used in the Washington Village neighborhood, or by its community associations. This shall include any
official recogniticn, or financial support, of the name when asscciated with a Street name, any public display, a community

group, or event The promoters of the name Pigtown have traumatized the community in the past 10 vears, with a cultare
of deceit, lies, fear, harassment, bribery and forgery.

As a signatory 1o this petition:

(a) | am aware of documented facts that the name Pigtown has nothing to do with pigs running the streets of Washington
Boulevard, it was a derogatory used to describe “pockets™ of unfortunate humans, gathered in at least 2 Iocatlons along tke
Boulevard, when abandonec by society, and were forced to live “pig like” life style.

(b) While I uncerstand the value of Historic designation for a community (NPS Form 10-900), krowingz the modus operandi of
the “Pig-promoters”, I strongly believe that their application for “historic Designation” is a mere Trojan-Horse, used, to finelly
get officiai recognition for a name, that forever shall stigmatize our community.

(¢) Since the application for a “Pigtown-Historic-Designation” was prepared in hiding, the majority of the community mc'nbers
were not aware of it. A few days before the hearing, a neighber spotted on the Boulevard, a small let:er size page posted on an
electric pole 2 blocks apart. Since Hisloric cesignation is mestly a statz and federal affair, 1 recommend a denial of support by
the City of application [0-S00. This will allow the community time, to file a fact finding brief with the State and Federal
Government, which I believe will initiate a full scale investigation.

(d) [ also urge the City to immediately instruct BDC to: (1) stop using the name “Main Street Piglowr.” in Washington Village.
(2) To immediately remove the largs Pigtown sign that was posted illegally at the entrance to the community, by their area
employee .(Wzshington Blvd. & Barve SL.).

Submitted with respect and app-eciat:on

Thank You
Important note o petitioner: If not aware of all the facts, please read above copy and the enclosed support maieialf
before signing petition. QOWNER/RENTER: COM./RES: DATE: jo{x|od @
Narre Address (Number + St. Name) Phone (Area Code Signature
_ (First, Mi, Last) (Al must be in Washington Village) ‘ + Number) ) (Plzase sign full Name)
=z — /, -y (7 o i ). /0 - . AR
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CONSOLIDATION
1878-1899

233«

blanks, the accumulation of much valuable experience and data, a well indexed
mass of facts, and a remarkable diminution of the number of inmates usually
supported by the city at this time of the year.”®®

What distinguished the new charity organization from that of Thomas
Criffith’s Hime was the shift toward a strong Ffaith in education and new roles
for educated women. Miss Szold graduated from Western High School for
Girls, Miss Richmond from Eastern, Szold participated actively in the demand
for more education for women, as well as in the development of Jewish schools
and free night schools. She joined forces with Mary Garrett (John's daughter)
and Martha Carey Thomas in ralsing $100,000 [or the Hopkins medical school,
on the condirion that gualified women would be admitted. With them she pro-
tested the continuing discrimination of The Johns Hopkins University against
women and supported the founding of John Goucher’s Womau’s College.

Within the black community a resegregation was also taking place, similar Moving Uphill
to that in the Jewish community. Already visible in the ‘80s were new
aspirations and new forms of degradation. This apparently reflected an In-migra-
tion of rural blacks and a promotiun of the Baltimorc born. The eity had de-
veloped into a single elaborate plantation with ite house niggers and its feld
niggers. Geographica]iy, the resegregation produced ghettos, or nelghborhoods
of thousands, mnch more extensive than the alley environments of the ‘70s. The
sharpest contrasts were between Pigtowy and Northwest Baltimore. Eigkoﬁp, at
the foot of Ficmont Avenue, altitudc twenty feet, wae the home of the greatest
number of country hlacks, Around Camdep Station, the market houses, and

produce docks, black immigrants from the counlies of Maryland and Virgini?
adjoined clusters uf white immigrants, especially Russian Jews and Italians.

Open drains, great lotz Alled with high weeds, ashes and garbage accumulated in the
alleyways, cellars filled with filthy black water, houses that are total strangers to the
touch ul whilewash or scrubbing brush, human bodies that have heen strangers for
months to soap and water, villainous looking negroes who loiter and sleep around the
street corners and never woik; vile and vicious women, with but a smock to cover
their black nakedness. . . . That's Pigtown.®”

The other extreme was northwest of St. Mary’s Seminary, where the “re-
spectable” class moved from the alleys out onto slreets such as Biddle Strect,
altitude one hundred feet. On New Year’s Day 1886 “a swell colored reception”
was given on West Biddle Street at the home of Mrs® L. W. Lee, “rassisted by
about half a dozen young belles. The parlors were lighled dimly with gas, the
shutters tightly closed.” Celery and winter delicacies were served.®® Another
society event was a wedding at Narth Street Baptist Church. The bride’s hairdo
was derorated with a single ostrich plume, but she was upstaged by a light
brown girl in a rich black dress, cut décolleté, and a black silk lace fascinator
with orange dots.®

Between these extremes lay an elaborate system of social status, which felt
every ripple in the job market or the housing markct. In the job market, certain
individuals and rectricted clacses of the black cammunity were promoted, but




16 2¥4¢ 11:46HM P13

Mar.

i 414484452 (Y

FARX NU.

SWCCRC

FRUM

g e B
&SO,wm%m 2
0’3 S Qw %
S.w.’.” 0 “C
S gL =
W et 4_,
< 5 Q A
"“J al
CRro.n i
y :
Q %
EO s “,
e .m
mo > AT

SRl > e Y
.wwx < s ﬁﬂuwﬂ‘y g e S R AT

AN

POLITICS &.
PROGRESS

‘~lkilqn’¢3:; ‘E;L ‘::"(7‘C’Ik!;



1b 2y4¢ 11:4/HAM P14

Mar.

¢ 41484452 vy

FAX NU.

SWCCRC

FRUM

20 POLITICS & PROCRESS

Protably the worst slum was “Piglown,” a Megro community
“away down on the southwestern limit of . . . [the] city where
Columbia avenue [now Washington Boulevard] loses iself ina
labyrinth of brickyards, lumber yards, lots filled with noisome
weeds anc open stagnant pools, whers open sewers cross and re-
cross each other . . ..” Reporters questioned inhabitants and dis-
covered they could nct aFord doctors or medicines and did not
kncw about charity services. Theix living cond:tions were abomi-
nable. Wrote one reporter:

Open drains, great Jots filled with high weeds, ashes and garbage ac-
cumulated in the alleyways, cellars filled with filthy black water,
houses that are total strangers to tke touch ¢f whitewash or sarub-
binz brusa, human bodies that have been strangers fer months to
soap and waer, villainous Iooking negroes who Joiter znd sleep
around the street corners and never work; vile and vidous women,
with but a smock to cover their black nzkedness, lounging in the
docrways or squatting upoen the steps, aurling foul epithets at every
passerby; foul streets, foul pecple, in foul tenements filled with
foul air; that's "Pig:own.” 23

The New: blamed the conditions on city government. The il-
literate inhabitants were nct only uraware of the dzngers to life
lurking in their squalor, but they aso were ‘ncapable of doing
anything about the mess. News reporters looked for cizy inspec-
tors checking the area but found none. Street cleaners were non-
existent. Health officials were needed to teach these inhabitants
to keep themselves and their environment clear—for their cwn
health and for the health of the entire cizy.*

Reoorters interviewed the city health commisioner, who
claimed his hands were tied. 1f 2 man used dead cats ard offal in
what he claimed was a business, the health commissionex coula
only require him to remove the debris within twelve hours, but
then it could be replaced with other debris. For yezrs, he added,
he had asked the Health Board and city council for the power
to pave and clean strects, inspect food, remove zardage, and
superintend the construction of all sublic buildings.?¢

23[bid., Septercber 20, 1892.

24l bid.
337%id., September 21. 1892.

‘Dewn With ihe Bosies!” 21

With the responsibility for the stums charged againit the boss-
ridden city government, the News turned to a new crusade—
this tie zgainst a form of gambling known as Policy. Policy
was 2 lottery :n which a person risced a nickel hepirg thac the
three numbers which he picked would be among :he twelve
drawn each day out of a possible seventy-eight. Policy playing
generally took place in tack rooms of saloons, though agents
might be found on street corners. If the plaver won, he xeceived
nine dollars—a payoff of 180 to 1. The odds on his chances of
winning, however, were approximately 100,000 to 1. At these
odds, Baltimcre attorney William Marbury said, no intelligent
man would pay. But intelligent men were not atiractec tc this
nickel ante gzme. The victims of tae hoax were the poor, ‘gno-
rant black and white workingmen of Baltimore. Wagsring their
nickels, often needed for a I>al of bread or a bag of coal, they
hoped to win an amount which was frequeatly greater than an
entire week's pay.2®

On January 24, 1893, the News—presumably Grasty gave
the orders—sent its en:ire reportorial force to buy Policy tick-
ets, to gather evidence, and to write up their experience of the
game. The next morning, with their stories of the mcre thzn
forty dens in type, the reposters were sent to interview Police
Marshal Jacob Frey and the districe captains of the police force
to determine whether any Policy was being played in Baltimore.
All of the officers denied the existence of Policy in the city.
That evering tke News published the two stcries side by side.
The result of the exposure shook tke police, politicians, and gam-
blers, and the police board closed the Policy tcoms temporarily.

In April the News learned of a secret meeting of gamblers
and ward lezders preparing to resume Policy. and regorted it
the next day. The article listed the names of the gamblers and
ward leaders preseat and charged that “the game was a side-
thow cf the corrupt political ring” existing only under thz tol-
erance of the pclitical bosses, In the text of the story, the News

#€"The Tria. of Chardes H. Grasty, Thomas K. Worthiagien, and Joan
M. \szcr. ]y., for Libel, 3altimore, Macyland, 1893,” in loha D. Lawson,
(ed) ., £mevican State Trials, V (1. Louis, 1916), £16-17, 277.
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United States Code

National Historic Preservation Act of 1966,
As amended through 2000
[With annotations]

{This Act became law on October 15, 1966 (Public Law §9-665; 16 U.S.C. 470 et
seq.). Subsequent amendments to the Act include Public Luw 91-243, Public Law
93-54, Public Law 94-422, Public Law 94-458, Public Law 96-199, Public Law
96-244, Public Law 96-515, Public Law 98483, Public Law 99-514, Public Law
100-127, Public Law 102-575, Public Law 103-437, Public Law 104-333, Public
Law 106-113, Public Lew 106176, Public Law 106-208, and Public Law 106-
355. This description of the Act, as amended, tracts the language of the Uinited
States Code except thar (in following comman nsage) we refer to the
“Act’(meaning the Act, as amended) rather than to the “subchapter” or the “title”
of the Code.This description also excludes some of the notes found in the Code
as well as those sections of the amendments dealing with completed reports.
Until the Code is updated through the end of the 10611 Cungress, the Code
cirations for Sections 308 and 309 are speculative.]

AN ACT to Establish a Program for the Preservation of Additional Historic
Properties throughout the Nation, and for Other Purposes.

Section 1
[10 U.S.C. 470 — Short tiile of the Acr]

(@) This Act may be cited as the "National Historic Preservation Act".

[Purposc of the Act]

() The Congress finds and declares that ~ —

(1) the spirit aud direction of the Nation are founded upon and reflected
in its historic heritage;

(2) the historical and cultural foundations of the Nation shonld he
preserved as a living parf of onr community life and development in
order to give a sense of orientation to the American people;

(3) historic propcrtico the Nation's heritage are being lost

or substantially & d, oftcn inadvertently, with increasing
frequency;

(4) the preservationi ot this irreplaceable heritage is in the public interest

so thar s V¥ epacy of culmural, educational, aesthertic,

_inspirational, economic, and energy benefits will be maintained and
cnriched for future gencrations of Americans;

1b 2047 12:12FM Pl
Page 1 of 57
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From the Baltimore Sun

A Pigtown by any other name would please some

"Washington Village' advocates sniff at title

By Jill Rosen
Sun reporter

July 26, 2006
A long-simmering feud over what to call the Southwest Baltimore neighborhood that sometimes goes by
Pigtown, sometimes by Washington Village and other times by a hyphenated hookup of the two, erupted

recently in the unlikeliest of spots.

This brawl over authenticity, pride and, of course, pigs overwhelmed an otherwise subdued hearing on -
of all things - Pigtown's application to the National Register of Historic Places.

On one side are a core of neighborhood boosters pushing hard to refer to the area as Pigtown, the earliest
name on record anyone can find.

Quirky, yet catchy, they say, Pigtown evokes an old-timey era when pigs scampered through the streets
on their way to nearby slaughterhouses. They dismiss Washington Village - a name that city leaders
coined in the 1970s to shine up the area's image - as phony gentrification-speak.

On the other side are folks fighting just as hard for another option: "anything BUT Pigtown."

Pigtown, they say, not only sounds slovenly but refers to the neighborhood's historic poverty - hardly
something they want to advertise on pig signs down the main street. They believe Washington Village

has more class.

Unfortunately, with historic data on what inspired the neighborhood's name only slightly more solid than
a trough of barnyard mush, proving who's definitively correct is squishy business.

Historians left in best-guess mode agree Pigtown most likely evolved from slaughterhouses, not squalor.
"If it didn't come from there, I wouldn't know where it came from - probably a real estate agent," says
local historian Gilbert Sandler. "You flatter me to think that [ have the answer to Pigtown when no one
does."

But quite a few think they do.

Jack Danna, manager of the Pigtown Main Streets revitalization program, is behind the National

http://www baltimoresun.com/news/local/bal-te.md.pigtown26jul26,1,7000100,print.story 11/6/2006
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Register application. Like the professional cheerleader that he is, Danna, uninterrupted, can extol the
joys of Pigtown impressively - maybe even record-breakingly.

If the name had a stigma, would he embrace it so? He thinks not.

It's not ideal, Danna feels, to have city maps pointing out "Washington Village" but his organization's
annual festival celebrating "Pigtown." He thinks the National Register designation - proudly stating
Pigtown - would give the neighborhood the identity it craves.

The National Register designation, though largely a bragging right, would offer the neighborhood a
degree of architectural protection. It also would open the door for tax credits.

For Danna, "It's to say, this is a neighborhood that's worthy."
Worthiness might already be arriving in the working-class Baltimore enclave.

Homes breaking the $400,000 barrier certainly have. Yoga is rumored to be on its way along with soy
lattes. And in 2004, City Paper bestowed its "best neighborhood" award on Pigtown, noting: "One new
resident reports that one of the chief benefits of Pigtown life is the prospect, on any given night, that one
of your neighbors will be selling off a DVD player, a van, a PlayStation, or a bed - and always for $10."

In Washington Village, wouldn't those used beds and electronics cost more?

Jonathan Shochat, who owns a number of buildings in the 700 block of Washington Boulevard, wouldn't
mind if they do. He has vowed to erase the word Pigtown from the books - if it's the last thing he does.
In fact, as he left the National Register hearing, he muttered, "Before I leave this world, this will be
resolved."”

Shochat ain't buying Danna's pigs-with-charm offensive.

He points to a blunt and oft-footnoted article that appeared in a 1892 edition of a now-defunct area
newspaper, The News: "Open drains, great lots filled with high weeds, ashes and garbage accumulated
in the alleyways, cellars filled with filthy black water, houses that are total strangers to the touch of
whitewash or scrubbing brush, human bodies that have been strangers for months to soap and water,"
the article stated. "That's 'Pigtown.""

With that as his Exhibit A, Shochat submitted a passionate protest against the National Register
application. He punctuated his material with pictures of ornery-looking pigs in the crosshairs - a shivery
sort of contrast to the Pigtown proponents' swine, which tend to be more Piglet or Wilbur, less Animal
Farm.

"[t's about the misery of the people," he says of Pigtown's meaning. "It's about the human situation, the
smells and the situation or whatever - not the pigs. We have to get rid of this culture, this idea that this is
a pig town."

Muro Basilio, who lives in Hamilton and works in the billing department of Bon Secours Washington
Village, would have to agree. Basilio, "a little anal when it comes to neatness," has big issues with
Pigtown as an identifier.

"It's nasty sounding," he says. "Pigs are associated with dirt and a lot of negativity; why would you want
to live there?"

http://www.baltimoresun.com/news/local/bal-te.md.pigtown26jul26,1,7000100,print.story 11/6/2006
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If he were an out-of-towner thinking about moving to the city, he says, "I would miss this whole thing
cause I'd scratch Pigtown right off my list. Would you move to a place called West Hell? No, you'd pass
that up."

Indeed. Someone looking to rent a Baltimore apartment, trying to choose among a handful of places
including Mount Vernon, Fells Point and Pigtown, posted a call for advice on a seemingly hipster blog
called Killoggs.

"Pigtown? Huh," a reader responded. "Who would voluntarily live in a place called Pigtown?"

Let William Edward "Bus" Chambers be the first to volunteer. Chambers, called "the mayor of
Pigtown," has spent most of his 78 years there. As did his father. And his grandmother - born there, he
says, in 1879.

He claims to have witnessed the last "running of the pigs" from the rails to the slaughterhouse in the
early 1930s. How does he know that was the last time? "If they would have come after that," he says,
with a whiff of annoyance, "I would have saw them."

Aside from a spell during his boyhood when people said "Carrolltown" (after Charles Carroll, who
established the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad), and an audacious try by someone a couple of years ago to
float "Federal Hill West," Pigtown, to Chambers, has always been Pigtown. And not for any ugly
reasons.

"We're not ashamed of the word," he says, adding that quite a few investors don't seem put off either.
"They can put anything they want to on the map."

Skai Davis moved the Yabba Pot onto Washington Boulevard about a year ago despite the irony of
operating a vegan restaurant in Baltimore's de facto pork capital.

When Danna suggested she bring vegan to Pigtown, she didn't blink.

"I was like, yeah, I think it would be cool to have a vegan restaurant anywhere in the world - Pigtown,
Cowtown, Horsetown, Beeftown."

Though she backs "Pigtown" as more authentic than "Washington Village," she thinks the later sounds
more upwardly mobile, more able to afford her teriyaki tofu and cucumber punch.

(Out of his mother's earshot, Yosef Davis, 11, confides that he would lose the Pigtown tag. "This place
does not look like a pig town to me. It looks better than a pig town.")

For others, it's Pigtown or bust.
Kimberly Sheridan likes to call herself the "self-taught painting pro from Pigtown."
"It has a ring to it, doesn't it?" she says. Washington Village offers no such alliterative perks.

Anyway, she thinks there's enough places called Washington: "I'm 40 miles away from a whole capital
called Washington!"

Though the name might stem from the slaughterhouse, Sheridan, who has lived in Pigtown since 1984,

http://www .baltimoresun.com/news/local/bal-te.md.pigtown26jul26,1,7000100,print.story 11/6/2006
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accepts that rough reality.

"It tells of our past honestly - why cover it up?" she says. And if folks find the name too ugly for their
address, she suggests, "Perhaps it would be advisable if they never ate pork again."

Sculptors Narda and Rodney Carroll (no relation to Charles), renovated two expansive buildings into a
home and gallery in 1987. The oddball affordability drew them, not the Washington Village concept -
which Narda Carroll writes off as "generic," "bland" and something she keeps confusing with Southeast
Baltimore's Washington Hill.

For Carroll, Pigtown is the next Hampden, one of those turn the frown upside down sorts of spots that
have managed to capitalize on their idiosyncrasies.

Hampden, she says, "has cashed in - in a good way - on that glorified Baltimore-ese."
City preservation officials, eager to hustle the controversy on to the next agency on the National
Register approval chain, agreed to forward the application with Pigtown on it - but only after tucking a

letter inside warning that concerns persist over the name.

In any event, though Chambers might be Pigtown's biggest fan, he does have a bone to pick with another
Baltimore neighborhood - one already on the national register: Butcher's Hill.

"That's about getting slaughtered, man," he says, laughing hard. "It's not about the butcher giving you a
slice of meat - I think it's you go there and you get butchered."

jill.rosen@baltsun.com

Copyright © 2006, The Baltimore Sun | Get Sun home delivery

> Get news on your mobile device at www.baltimoresun.com
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Pamplona, with pork, in Pigtown

The neighborhood embraces its hog history with an annual
Running of the Pigs.

By Michael Anft
Special to Baltimoresun.com

April 15, 2005

It may not make people forget Pamplona -- the town in Spain that inspired Ernest Hemingway with its
annual spectacle of angry bulls chasing drunken idiots through narrow streets in July -- but Pigtown, the
timeworn burg just southwest of downtown, has something the pork-loving Spanish surely wouldn't
stick their noses up at: itinerant pigs.

Pamplona's annual festival features a bull run to honor its patron saint, San Fermin. Pigtown's ritual,
held during the second weekend of September, pays homage to the gods of commerce. For decades, pigs
were driven from trains at the old B&O Railroad Station on Pratt Street through the neighborhood's
streets, resulting in its name -- at least before misguided city officials and realtors started calling it by
the more gentrified "Washington Village" during the 1970s.

Beginning in the late 1800s, the area was known as "Cattle Quarter" because livestock was herded
across fields and dirt streets to slaughterhouses in Federal Hill, South Baltimore and along Wilkens
Avenue. Around 1900, pigs became the most numerous victims-to-be, eternally entwining the
neighborhood with swine.

A few members of the 5,000-resident community recall the times when streets were overrun with
porkers. William "Bus" Chambers, 77, who has spent his entire life in the African-American community
that has settled in the neighborhood's southernmost seven blocks, says that the current moniker for the
event held during the Pigtown Festival of today -- The Running of the Pigs -- is a misnomer. It was more
like a walk or a waddle.

"They didn't move too fast," Chambers says of one "run" he witnessed in either 1932 or 1933 along
Bayard Street. "One guy who I guess was a pig herder had a long staff to keep them in line." The pigs
made a left on Hamburg Street, then a right on Ostend, crossing a bridge into South Baltimore's
slaughterhouse district. "If one or two pigs ended up on the pavement, one of the older men would
snatch one through a basement window," Chambers says. Apparently, some Pigtowners who put pork on
their table eliminated the middleman.

These days, it's hard to find a piece of bacon, much less a stray pig, in the area. But the neighborhood's

lack of restaurants is a situation the founders of the Pigtown Festival hope to remedy. Jack Danna, the
project manager for the Washington Village/Pigtown Main Street -- a publicly-funded group that works

http://www .baltimoresun.com/entertainment/visitor/bal-vg-pigtownside, 1,2579520,print.st... 11/6/2006
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to improve the small-business climate along Washington Boulevard, Pigtown's main drag -- says that the
memory of the pigs is so powerful and marketable that much of the neighborhood has decided to ditch
the gentility of "Washington Village" in favor of its nom du cochon.

"The whole pig image is very popular,” says Danna. "It's history, and people respond to that."

Now that the neighborhood has embraced its inner pig, it has resumed the "runs," which had ended
sometime during the Depression. When Danna and a few others came up with the idea of a Pigtown
Festival in 2002, they searched far and wide for pigs but came up with little more than slop. Finally, a
dean in the agriculture department at the University of Maryland, College Park said he could deliver 18
of his pet pigs to the festival. Since 2002, the same pigs have waddled down the 800 block of McHenry
Street, behind the B&O Railroad Museum and in front of some houses that date to the 1820s.

There are no worries this time around that one or more of them might get snatched. Along with the
area's working-class mainstays, the neighborhood is now populated with artists who are as concerned
with karma and the environment as they are with affordable studio space -- people for whom the pig is a
quaint symbol, not the centerpiece of a feast, Danna says.

"I'm a vegetarian and a backer of PETA [People for the Ethical Treatment of Animals]," Danna says.
"I'm happy to say that none of our pigs will be eaten."
> Get news on your mobile device at www.baltimoresun.com
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official or representative of a business or
organization.

he State Director will review any
adverse comments. If no adverse
comments are received, the
classification will become effective 60
days from the date of publication of this
notice in the Federal Register. The land
will not be available for conveyance
until after the classification becomes
effective.

(Authority: 43 CFR part 2741).

Sam DesGeorges,

Field Office Manager.

[FR Doc. E6-20305 Filed 11-30-06; 8:45 am]
BILLING CODE 4310-FB-P

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places;
Notification of Pending Nominations
and Related Actions

Nominations for the following
properties being considered for listing
or related actions in the National
Register were received by the National
Park Service before November 18, 2006.
Pursuant to section 60.13 of 36 CFR part
60, written comments concerning the
significance of these properties under
the National Register criteria for
evaluation may be forwarded by United
States Postal Service, to the National
Register of Historic Places, National
Park Service, 1849 C St., NW., 2280,
Washington, DC 20240; by all other
carriers, National Register of Historic
Places, National Park Service, 1201 Eye
St., NW., 8th floor, Washington DC
20005; or by fax, 202-371-6447. Written
or faxed comments should be submitted
by December 16, 2006.

John W. Roberts,

Acting Chief National Register/National
Historic Landmarks Program.
CALIFORNIA

San Diego County

Ginty, John, House, 1568 Ninth Ave., San
Diego, 06001157

Santa Cruz County

Grace Episcopal Church, 12547 CA 9,
Boulder Creek, 06001158

COLORADO

Denver County

Bonfils Memorial Theater, 1475 Elizabeth St.,
Denver, 06001160

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

District of Columbia

Chesapeake and Potomac Telephone
Company Warehouse and Repair Facility,
(Telecommunications Resources of

Washington DC MPS) 1111 N. Capitol St.,
NE., Washington, 06001159

IOWA

Clarke County

Cowles, George H. and Alice Spaulding,
House, 229 W. Cass St., Osceola, 06001161

Polk County

Taft-West Warehouse, 216-222 Court Ave.,
Des Moines, 06001162

KANSAS

Chase County

Cedar Point Mill, Jct. of Main and First Sts.,
Cedar Point, 06001166

Fox Creek Stone Arch Bridge, (Masonry Arch
Bridges of Kansas TR) %z mi. N and % mi.
W of jet. of U.S. 50 and Cottonwood St.,
Strong City, 06001164

Douglas County

Stony Point Evangelical Lutheran Church,
1575 N. 600 Rd., Baldwin City, 06001168

Geary County

Brown, George T., House, 222 S. Jefferson St.,
Junction City, 06001167

Russell County

" Banks—Waudby Building, 719 N. Main St.,

Russell, 06001172
First National Bank—Waudby Building, 713
N. Main St., Russell, 06001174

Saline County

Roosevelt-Lincoln Junior High School,
(Public Schools of Kansas MPS) 210 W.
Mulberry St., Salina, 06001169

Sedgwick County

Clapp, R.D.W., House, 320 N. Belmont,
Wichita, 06001173

Mohr Barn, 14920 W. 21st St. N, Wichita,
06001170

Shawnee County

Dillon House, 404 W. Ninth St., Topeka,
06001171

Smith County

First National Bank Building, 100 N. Main,
Smith Center, 06001163

MARYLAND

Baltimore County

Central Catonsville and Summit Park Historic
District, Bet. Frederick Rd., S. Rolling Rd.
and Mellor Ave., Catonsville, 06001186

Baltimore Independent City

East Baltimore Historic District, Old,
Generally Bounded by Janes Falls,
Greenmount Cemetery, North Ave.,
Broadway, and Madison, Ashland and
Eager Sts., Baltimore (Independent City),

06001175

Pigtown Historic District, Roughly bounded
by McHenry St. and Ramsay St., W. Barre,
S. Paca, Ostend and Wicomico Sts., Bush
and Bayard Sts., and RR, Baltimore
(Independent City), 06001177

Kent County

Radcliffe Mill, 860 High St., Chestertown,
06001165

MASSACHUSETTS

Bristol County

Bourne Mill, 844 State Ave., Fall River,
06001190

MINNESOTA

Carlton County

Oldenburg, Henry C., House, 604 Chestnut
St., Carlton, 06001183

Hennepin County

Hagel Family Farm, 11475 Tilton Trail S,
Hassan Township, 06001182

Todd County

Christie, Dr. George R., House, 15 1st St. S,
Long Prairie, 06001184

Hewitt Public School, 514 N. Wisconsin St.,
Hewitt, 06001181

MISSISSIPPI

Jefferson Davis County

Wilkes, Stephen H., House, 1522 S.
Williamsburg Rd., Bassfield, 06001176

MONTANA

Flathead County

McCarthy-Pederson Farm Historic District,
820 Riverside Rd., Kalispell, 06001188

Gallatin County

B-K Ranch, 750 Lone Mountain Ranch Rd.,
Big Sky, 06001185

Watkins Creek Ranch, 1207 Firehole Ranch
Rd., West Yellowstone, 06001180

Lewis and Clark County

Spalding—Gunn House, 433 Clarke St.,
Helena, 06001187

Lincoln County

Theodore Roosevelt Memorial Bridge,
Crossing the Kootenai R. at Riverside Dr.,
Troy, 06001178

Troy Jail, 316 E. Yaak Ave., Troy, 06001179

RHODE ISLAND

Newport County

Bourne Mill, 844 State Ave., Tiverton,
06001189

Providence County

Bridgeton School, 16 Laurel Hill Ave.,
Burrillville, 06001191

UTAH

Cache County

Hatch’s Camp, 8.3 mi. E from mouth of Logan
Canyon, Cache National Forest, 06001192

WISCONSIN

Fond Du Lac County

Sisson’s Peony Gardens, 207 N. Main St.,
Rosendale, 06001193
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